

A research report on the well-being and mental health benefits of camping

The Friendly Club

CAMP FORP

Knowledge Applied

Dr Kaye Richards, Dr Adele Doran, Dr Caroline E Brett, Harriett Wingfield and Professor Peter Schofield

Foreword



When we first revealed the results of our Real Richness Report back in 2011, little did we know how it would strike a chord in so many ways and with so many people.

The media coverage of the report was enormous and – incredibly – continued for more than a decade. The outdoor recreation and leisure industry also got firmly behind the findings, decision-makers sat up and listened, and campers themselves

welcomed what they already knew – that camping makes you happier.

Given the appetite for this type of research and the ground-breaking nature of that first report, we wanted to take it to the next level.

Welcome to The Outjoyment Report!

Camping is at the heart of this study, and we know the pastime helps improves the lives of people in many ways. The Outjoyment Report reveals important new findings while also reflecting on how – or indeed if – the landscape has changed in the past 11 years.

New research techniques mean a direct comparison with the Real Richness Report of 2011 is sometimes difficult, but our findings are both illuminating and robust. We have teamed up with academics at Liverpool John Moores University, which partnered with The Camping and Caravanning Club for the first report, and Sheffield Hallam University – all experts in their fields.

The importance of spending time in the outdoors, often enjoying active hobbies and pastimes, has never been more in the spotlight, especially following the Covid-19 pandemic. And as a result, we believe our findings are crucial in assisting the nation with any recovery, especially when it comes to people's own health and well-being.

This is a subject that's been an integral part of the Club since its creation in 1901 – it's part of our DNA. Our Articles of Association, written in 1947, state: "To encourage and to help all, especially young people and those of limited means, to a greater knowledge, love and care of the countryside, to develop their self-reliance and independence, and to promote their physical health, spiritual welfare and education by spending as much time in the open air as possible by means of camping, caravanning and similar activities."

Those words have never been truer today.

We believe the benefits of camping in all its forms, as demonstrated through The Outjoyment Report, provide compelling evidence as to why it is so good for people's health and well-being. And we think it's essential reading.

Simon McGrath

Head of Communications and External Relations The Camping and Caravanning Club



Key findings at a glance

- Campers are more likely to be 'flourishing' than non campers, particularly those who camp frequently.
- The strongest motivator for going camping is for feelings of happiness.
- Campers are happier and less anxious than non campers, particularly those who camp frequently.
- Campers have significantly higher levels of psychological, emotional, and social well-being than non campers.
- Campers feel significantly less stressed than non campers
- Campers have significantly higher levels of nature connectedness.
- Camping provides a pathway for physical activity, with walking being the number one pastime when on camping trips.
- Camping connects people to the outdoors, to nature and to each other.

Our credentials

The Outjoyment Report was commissioned by The Camping and Caravanning Club – the oldest organisation of its kind for all types of camping – and undertaken by Liverpool John Moores University and Sheffield Hallam University.

It comprised two central aspects. A literature review, which assessed studies carried out in the outdoor recreation sphere since 2011, and a quantitative survey of almost 11,000 campers and non campers.

The findings and data were then analysed by our team of experts.

Our report was more than a year in the making and given camping is at its heart, we think it's unique too.

What's in a word?

We have coined the term 'outjoyment' as a blend of two words that are central to this report – outdoors and enjoyment.

It's also known as a portmanteau word, the likes of which we often unknowingly use regularly. In the same way you could be pitched up on a campsite enjoying brunch (breakfast and lunch) while glamping (glamorous camping).

2

Contents

1	Introduction	
1.1	Purpose of the research	. 5
1.2	Camping defined	. 6
1.3	Research aims and objectives	. 6
1.4	Summary of key findings	. 6
2	Review of Literature	
2.1	The emergence of camping and caravanning	
		_

3 Methodology

3.1	Overview of methods	14
3.2	Participants	14
3.3	Measures	14
	3.3.1. Office for National Statistics measurement of	
	personal well-being	17
	3.3.2 Perceived Stress Scale	17
	3.3.3 Mental Health Continuum Short Form	17
	3.3.4 Ryff Scale of Well-being	17
	3.3.5 Nature Connection Index	18
3.4	Procedures	18

4 Results

4.1	Spending time outdoors	
	4.1.1 Frequency and value of spending time outside in	
	green and natural spaces	20
	4.1.2 Green and natural spaces accessed while	
	camping	20
	4.1.3 Nature Connection Index	.21
4.2	Well-being dimensions	
	4.2.1 Office for National Statistics personal well-being	
	scales	
	4.2.2 Flourishing: The Mental Health Continuum Short	l
	Form Scale	
	4.2.3 Perceived Stress Scale	.27
	4.2.4 Six Dimensions of Psychological Well-being:	
	Ryff Scale	28
	4.2.5 The impact of campers' ages on their personal	
	well-being	.29
	4.2.6 The value of camping for health and well-being	
		30
4.3	Camping behaviours	
	4.3.1 Types of camping	
	4.3.2 Camping motivations	
	4.3.3 Camping location	
	4.3.4 Camping companions	. 51



4.3.5 Participation in outdoor activities while camping	
	31
4.3.6 Frequency of camping	
4.3.7 The influence of household income on camping	
behaviour	32
4.3.8 Membership of the Camping and Caravanning	
Club	34
4.3.9 Barriers to camping for non campers survey	
respondents	34

5 Discussion of key findings

7	References	40
6	Conclusions and Future Research	38
5.5	Participation in activities while camping	.37
5.4	Camping on prescription and in the classroom	.37
5.3	The impact of camping on well-being	.36
5.2	Camping motivations	.35
	COVID-19	.35
	5.1.1 The value of green and natural spaces post	
	spaces	.35
5.1	The value of camping and being in green and natural	

8 Appendices

8.1: Chi-square tests for independence	
8.2: Nature Connection Index scores	
8.3: Comparison of campers vs non campers on all	
well-being measures, and perceived stress scale	
8.4: Scores and correlations for all campers on all mea	asures,
and comparison of frequent vs non-frequent	
campers	47
8.5: Mental Health Continuum category by group	49
8.6: The impact of campers' ages on their personal	
well-being	
8.7: The impact of camping frequency on campers'	
personal well-being	

Tables

Table 1:	Characteristics of survey respondents
Table 2:	An overview of the six dimensions of the Ryff
	Scale of Psychological Well-being
Table 3:	Green and natural spaces accessed while camping
Table 4:	Type of camping
Table 5:	Camping motivation scores
Table 6:	Camping companions
Table 7:	Participation in outdoor activities while camping
Table 8:	Years the respondents have been camping
Table 9:	Frequency of camping each year
Table 10:	Days spent camping on each trip
Table 11:	Campers' household income vs frequency of
	camping each year
Table 12:	Campers' household income vs type of camping
Table 13:	Barriers to camping for non campers
Table 14:	Chi-square tests for independence
Table 15:	Nature Connection Index items and total index for
	campers vs non campers
Table 16:	Scores on well-being and mental health scales
	for campers vs non campers
Table 17:	Scores on well-being and mental health scales
	for all campers, and by camping frequency
Table 18:	Correlations between all measures (all campers)
Table 19:	NCI and ONS scores by camping type
Table 20:	Mental Health Continuum category by group
Table 21:	One-way ANOVA to examine the impact of
	campers' age on all well-being measures
Table 22:	Mental health category by age group
Table 23:	ANOVA to examine the impact of camping
	frequency on their personal well-being

Figures 1

igure 1:	Scores on the six NCI items for non campers vs
	campers

- Figure 2: Nature Connection Index by camping type
- Figure 3: Mean scores on ONS4 items for non campers vs campers
- Figure 4: Mean scores on ONS4 items for frequent vs less frequent campers
- Figure 5: Means for ONS4 items by camping type
- Figure 6: Mental Health Continuum category for non campers vs campers
- Figure 7: Mental Health Continuum-SF subscale scores for non campers vs campers
- Figure 8: Mental Health Continuum category by camping frequency
- Figure 9: Mental Health Continuum-SF subscale scores by camping frequency
- Figure 10: Mean PSS score by type of camping
- Figure 11: Means for Ryff psychological wellbeing dimensions for non campers vs campers
- Figure 12: Means for Ryff psychological wellbeing dimensions by camping frequency
- Figure 13: Mean scores on Ryff autonomy and environmental mastery subscales, and perceived stress, by age group
- Figure 14: Percentage of each age group categories as flourishing, languishing, and moderately mentally healthy



FUNDERS:

This research was funded by The Camping and Caravanning Club and undertaken independently by Liverpool John Moores University and Sheffield Hallam University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:

The research team would like to thank Simon McGrath of The Camping and Caravanning Club and Dr Emma Ashworth of Liverpool John Moores University for advice at different stages of the research project. Also, our many thanks to all the research respondents that gave their time to complete the survey and contribute to this study.

AFFILIATION OF AUTHORS:

Dr Kaye Richards, Liverpool John Moores University Dr Adele Doran, Sheffield Hallam University Dr Caroline E Brett, Liverpool John Moores University Harriett Wingfield, Sheffield Hallam University Professor Peter Schofield, Sheffield Hallam University

REFERENCE CITATION:

Richards, K, Doran, A, Brett, C E, Wingfield, H, & Schofield, P (2022). *The Outjoyment Report: A research report on the well-being and mental health benefits of camping.* Coventry: The Camping and Caravanning Club.

1.1 Purpose of the research

This report concentrates on a UK Camping Lifestyle and Well-being Survey that was conducted in February 2022 and funded by The Camping and Caravanning Club. It aims to serve as a 10-year follow-on study from a previous Club study, the Real Richness Report, which examined the psychological and social benefits of the camping experience (CCC, 2011). A decade has passed since this earlier report underpinned the Club's Camping Makes You Happier campaign and, in light of the increasing interest in the benefits of being outside and in nature for well-being (Lovell et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2020; White et al., 2019), it was deemed timely to revisit the relationship between camping and happiness.

Since the previous report, an appreciation and understanding of the benefits of time spent outdoors and in natural environments has been extended considerably, to the extent that increasing people's access to activities in green spaces is now central to Government policy, including environmental and health policies (DEFRA, 2018; Public Health England, 2020). Accompanying this, there is also now over a decade of UK population data on levels of well-being, as reported on an annual and quarterly basis by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) (ONS, 2021). Furthermore, with the backdrop of the Covid-19 pandemic, the nation's well-being has come to the forefront of national significance. For example, there is evidence the natural environment helped some people to cope with negative feelings, such as anxiety, during the pandemic (ONS, 2021). Further, Natural England reported that 9 in 10 people surveyed during the pandemic in May 2020 agreed that natural spaces are good for their mental health and well-being (Natural England, 2020). Thus, given this changing landscape over the past 10 years, examining the topic of camping and well-being seems more relevant and, arguably, more significant than it was deemed previously.

The concept of well-being and mental health is multifaceted. The World Health Organisation defines someone's overall health as being "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (WHO, 2022). Accompanying this, they claim that mental health is "a state of well-being in which the individual realises his or her abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community" (Ibid.). Accordingly, mental health is associated with subjective well-being (Keyes, 2002), which refers to "individuals' perceptions and evaluations of their own lives in terms of their emotional state and their psychological and social functioning" (Mjøsund, 2021, p.48). Thus, psychological, social, and emotional well-being make up the "family tree of mental health" (Ibid., p.49; Keyes, 2002). A person's well-being and mental health can affect how they think, interact with others, earn a living, and enjoy life (WHO, 2022). Therefore, the promotion, protection and restoration of well-being and mental health are important to individuals, communities, and societies. Consequently, measuring subjective well-



being is deemed so important that it is included, alongside health, personal finance, employment, and the economy, in measures of national well-being such as the ONS National Well-being Programme (Tinkler & Hicks, 2011).

In the previous report, the psychological benefits (eg life satisfaction, purpose in life, personal growth, autonomy, positive/negative emotions) and social benefits (eg relationships with others) of camping that were deemed relevant to feelings of overall happiness were considered. In this report, a broader approach is adopted and a range of validated scales to measure well-being and mental health are utilised, recognising that each capture different aspects of well-being and mental health, and, when combined, provide a more holistic understanding of campers' psychological, emotional, and social well-being. These scales are reliable and theoretically sound measures of well-being which are used to measure the well-being of populations across the world. The scales used include the Ryff Scale of Psychological Well-being, the Perceived Stress Scale, the Mental Health Continuum Short-Form, and the Office of National Statistics Personal Well-being Scale. In addition, the inclusion of the Nature Connection Index enables an examination of improved mental well-being through being connected to nature, which camping can aid (see Section 3.3 for a more detailed overview of these scales).

1.2 Camping defined

The global phenomenon of camping tourism has emerged as a broad research field and many definitions have been offered in the literature (Rogerson & Rogerson, 2020). For the purpose of this study, camping and caravanning is defined as involving spending the night away from home in a temporary shelter, at close quarters with the natural environment (Brooker & Joppe, 2013; Wellner, 2015). We also use the broad term 'camping' to describe the many forms of camping, including the use of tents, caravans, campervans, motorhomes, trailertents and folding-campers, glamping, and static caravans.

1.3 Research aim and objectives

The aim of the research is to ascertain if camping has a positive impact on people's mental health and well-being. The objectives include:

- 1. To examine the value of spending time outdoors and in natural spaces.
- 2. To measure levels of optimal (flourishing), moderate, and poor (languishing) mental health of campers and non campers.
- 3. To measure levels of emotional, psychological, and social well-being of campers and non campers.
- 4. To measure levels of perceived stress of campers and non campers.
- 5. To measure campers' and non campers' connection to nature.
- 6. To identify camping motivations, camping behaviour, and barriers to camping.

This study will contribute to our understanding of and inform national discussion on the relevance of camping for promoting well-being and sustaining mental health.

1.4 Summary of key findings

The headline findings from the study are:

- Campers are more likely to be flourishing than non campers, particularly those who camp frequently.
- The strongest motivator for going camping is for feelings of happiness.
- Campers are happier and less anxious than non campers, particularly those who camp frequently, scoring significantly more positively on the ONS4 well-being questions.
- Campers have significantly higher levels across six key dimensions of psychological well-being than non campers.
- Campers feel significantly less stressed than non campers.
- Campers have significantly higher levels of nature connectedness and likely to spend slightly more time in nature than non campers.
- Camping provides a pathway for physical activity, with most campers spending time walking when on their camping trips.
- A key motivation for camping is to enjoy being in nature.
- People feel positive about healthcare professionals prescribing activities outdoors (including camping) instead of medication for a mental health issue.
- People strongly support the notion that education should offer opportunities for all children to go camping and learn in nature.



The relationship between happiness, well-being, and camping can be considered from multiple perspectives that can help to inform how we understand aspects of the camping experience. For example, the health benefits of being in natural environments (eg Capaldi et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2020; Pearson & Craig, 2014; Twohig-Bennett & Jones, 2018), the social and emotional benefits from connecting with others (eg Hassell et al., 2015; Jennings & Bamkole, 2019; Lonergan, 2021), and the restorative aspects of taking time away from everyday life, providing psychological benefits (Capaldi et al., 2015). It is not within the scope of this review of literature to do an exhaustive examination of these interdisciplinary well-being dimensions (emotional, social, psychological, and physical), as this can be obtained from wider relevant research reviews (eg Trudel-Fitzgerald et al., 2019; Vada et al., 2020). Instead, the main emphasis is to draw upon literature that has specifically focused on camping itself, thus helping to ascertain what evidence currently exists and how it can inform this study.

The review will initially consider the historical background of camping and its forms, leading to an examination of the motivational drivers and barriers to camping. The benefits of camping will then be considered, followed by a brief examination of the role camping can have for educational and health purposes. To conclude, the concepts of happiness and well-being are discussed, with a consideration of measurement approaches.

To identify relevant literature to inform this review, keyword search terms 'camping' and 'caravanning' were inputted in multiple academic databases including PsycINFO, Scopus, and databases on EBSCO. Literature from 2010 onwards and written in English were selected. A total of 1,166 research articles and book chapters containing these keywords were reviewed.

2.1 The emergence of camping and caravanning

2.1.1 Early indicators of camping activities

Historically, camping tourism has occurred in multiple forms for thousands of years to evolve as we know it today. Griffin (2019) examined an early form of camping known as 'cycle camping', which occurred in Ireland towards the end of the nineteenth century. This emerged due to a rapid development in cycling as a recreational activity and subsequently urban dwellers utilised this freedom to undertake trips into the Irish countryside via bicycle and sleep under canvas (Ibid). The pioneers of this played a role in facilitating a wider outdoor recreational movement which enraptured many others across Britain, Europe, and North America (CCC, 2022; Sommer, 2020). In both the United States and Australia, organised camping emerged in the late 1920s as a healthy escapism for populations living in urban areas (Kambic, 2018). This summer camp movement, predominating in the USA, long realised the well-being benefits of structured camping, which involves an organised programme of activities sometimes delivered or

arranged by members of staff (Henderson et al., 2005). The activities involved in camping, such as looking after one's food preparation and tent, have been recognised to help improve self-esteem, cognition, physical and social well-being (Henderson et al., 2005; Morrow et al., 2017; Tong et al., 2020). It is these associated benefits that have provided a foundation on which the role of camping for improving mental well-being have been built upon.

Alongside the evolving impact of cycling recreation, the later emergence of automobiles and highway networks promoted increased mobility, which led to a development of caravan parks. The move to modernise and increase the level of comfort to the camping experience has been seen through a multitude of shelter types and accommodation (such as cabins or fixed shelters), to grant opportunities for individuals to escape their daily lives and reinvigorate themselves in an outdoor setting providing a temporary home (Brooker & Joppe, 2014). As one of the earliest forms of accommodation, camping and caravanning tourism within natural environments has grown in popularity and importance (Birdir et al., 2015). Many European and American tourists favour it as a form of accommodation due to the inexpensive potential and flexibility of it (Albayrak, 2013). Alkan (2021) notes that camping is often recognised as something beyond the concept of a holiday, but as a way of living.

2.1.2 Emergence of different camping types

Over the years, various alternative forms of camping have emerged. For example, in Australia, Caldicott et al. (2014) explore the movement towards 'freedom camping'. Freedom camping is described as a lifestyle and involves choosing to park your recreational vehicle (RV) in a public place, in resistance to the higher-costing commercial caravan parks. The freedom camping movement brings with it much political debate across Australia at a local and national level. This is due to the supply and demand issues related to freedom camping, in addition to the complex issues around planning and management of spaces with limited resources for a variety of competing groups. In a similar vein, so called 'wild camping' has grown in many countries as an extremely popular touristic pastime, whereby tourists pitch their tents in wild, informalised and unstructured places, instead of on commercialised campsites (Rantala & Varley, 2019). Freedom camping has more recently been explored in other countries (eg New Zealand) around the time of large events, such as hosting the 2011 Rugby World Cup, where special legislation was crafted to guarantee the right to practice 'freedom camping' (Nava et al., 2022). Rantala and Varley (2019) examine wild camping as a lighter practice, within which the participants are resistant to being referred to as tourists and feel they can use it to escape to a freer form of social reality.

Another alternative and novel form of camping to recently emerge is 'glamping', a term derived from the words 'glamour' and 'camping', involving a combination of luxury and contact with nature in homelike accommodation such as cabins, yurts, tipis, and treehouses (Lee et al., 2019). This transformative injection of comfort to the camping experience has altered previous perspectives on camping as a less substantial or adequate avenue of tourism (Hrgović et al., 2018). Adamovich et al. (2021) identify the main difference between camping and glamping, whereby glamping suggests accommodation is pre-set to the guests' arrival. With a shift in desire for millennial travellers to participate more regularly in glamping, the hospitality sector is reshaping to embody one of the multiple paradoxes of post-modern tourists who aim to encounter more authentic experiences through being intimate, yet comfortable within nature (Bigné & Decrop, 2019). Campers and glampers share an essentially similar desire to experience authenticity and stay outdoors. Campers are driven by adventure and have a desire to interact with nature, whereas glampers aim to experience nature as a spectator and view it as enchanting or fanciful (Ahn & Lee, 2015).

While there are a range of approaches to camping, it appears European campers seem to prefer use of a caravan or recreation vehicle. A study from the Auto Camper Service International (ACSI) (2019) says that campers from France (53%), Italy (57%), and Great Britain (46%) prefer recreation vehicles, while campers from the Netherlands (57%) and from Spain (45%) prefer caravans. Campers from Germany enjoy both the standard caravan (46%) and recreation vehicle (43%). Tents are not everyone's favourite kind of camping. Only a minority of campers from Great Britain (20%), Spain (23%), and Italy (21%) like to use a tent for camping (*Ibid*, 2019).

The recent growth in popularity and economic effects of camping and caravanning from an uncommon to a mainstream tourism product is evident internationally, specifically in countries such as North America (Brooker & Joppe, 2014; Young, 2017), Australia (Caldicott et al., 2014), New Zealand (Collins et al., 2018) and across much of Europe and the United Kingdom (Doğantan et al., 2017; Lashley, 2015). For example, in 2018 there were approximately 27,960 registered camping grounds in Europe (Eurostat, 2020a) and visitors spent a total of 397 million nights at these camping grounds (Eurostat, 2020b). Despite the growth in its recognition and significance as a form of outdoor recreation, multiple scholars have noted that camping tourism is relatively under researched within tourism scholarship (eg Mikulić et al., 2017; Okumus et al., 2019; Van Rooij & Margaryan, 2019), and an apparent upturn in this research area only occurred following the appearance of two prominent review papers by Brooker and Joppe (2013; 2014).

To accelerate this growth within the industry, the Covid-19 pandemic has illustrated that while there were limited opening of borders for international travel, camping and glamping are alternative forms of domestic tourism which have grown hugely in popularity. For example, Sommer (2020) provides examples of this from Great Britain and Germany. This is supported by Aydin and Dogan (2020), who also note that tourists during Covid-19 moved to a preference of camp-caravan tourism (along with residential rental boutique hotels) and nature-based and short-term trips (Wachyuni & Kusumaningrum, 2020), and will choose less popular, less crowded places in the future. Craig's (2020) cross-sectional study considers the relationship between Covid-19 and camping in the United States. This investigation found that the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic

on individual's choices about holidays and accommodation meant that more people engaged in camping/glamping after restrictions were lifted. The results suggested that campers and glampers preferred locations that allowed for social distancing and were willing to travel further to achieve this space.

Demographically, camping is attractive to all ages, with the exception of adolescents aged 18-24, where participation was noted to decrease slightly in the US and Australia (Outdoor Foundation, 2012). Camping is popular for couples with young children as many parents view it as an affordable tourism option, while providing families with quality time together and good access to outdoor leisure activities (Mock & Hummel, 2012). In the past, camping tourism was predominantly undertaken by individuals of White/Caucasian origin who were exposed to the sector at a young age (Brooker & Joppe, 2013; 2014).

In more recent years and through the evolution of the camping experience, pathways and access to camping tourism has changed and camping tourists today are made up of a far more diverse group, divided instead by their motivations, goals and commitment. However, challenges still exist with access to the countryside and participation in outdoor recreation for different ethnic groups (see Hines et al., 2019). In line with international tourism scholarship, the balance of academic research on camping tourism is at present dominated by studies undertaken in the global north, thus meaning there is often less of a focus on the patterns of individuals and populations in less developed nations. Despite this, Rogerson and Rogerson (2020) note the shifting emergence of literature from the global south and propose a future research agenda for studies in this growing area, including sustainable development of camping tourism.

2.2 Understanding camping behaviours

2.2.1 Motivations for camping

The travel motivations and appeal for tourists to go camping are distinguished by Brooker and Joppe (2013) as various push or pull factors. The 'push' effect involves the need to escape for various reasons such as rest, adventure, or social interaction. 'Pull' effects are the compulsions that attract tourists to want to visit those locations to see beautiful places and experience nature (Sakáčová, 2013). A study of Taiwanese campers demonstrated that the higher the motivation of camping tourists, the more positive their experience and the higher their satisfaction (Lin & Chuang, 2021). These motivational factors or stimuli that influence the decisionmaking process and the satisfaction individuals get from camping have been explored by other scholars.

The most prominent push factor that motivates individuals to undertake camping has emerged through multiple studies to be escapism (Brooker & Joppe, 2013; Hardy et al., 2012; Sommer, 2020; White & White, 2004). Being surrounded by the natural environment promotes different well-being dimensions, eg restoration reducing mental fatigue (Rydstedt & Johnsen, 2019), and helps to afford this escape (Garst et al., 2009). Camping can also provide a unique opportunity to escape one's normal routines, relax

within natural surroundings and socialise at an interpersonal level (Morrow, 2013). Physical and psychological distancing from urban living or the stress of daily life can be more easily achieved through camping than other avenues of tourism. Dickinson et al. (2016) state that camping facilitates this escapism through the distancing from mobile devices and technology and immersing in a more simplistic way of existing. Their study found that despite variability in the desire to disconnect, up to 50% of camping tourists in their UK based study have a desire to digitally disconnect. A more recent study explored the motivations of tourists choosing to disconnect digitally, learning that escape, personal growth, health and well-being, and relationships were significant underlying reasons for disconnection (Egger et al., 2020). This need for a temporary escape, disconnection, and diversion from normal daily living to see new sights and go camping could have a variety of explanations, including dissatisfaction with urban life, a change in family circumstances, such as retirement (Counts & Counts, 2004) or death of a partner (White & White, 2004).

Camping trips can vary in length, during which time the campsite can become a transitory substitute for the home to socialise, eat and sleep in. Another factor that motivates camping tourism behaviours is the opportunity it presents for socialisation and interaction with friends and family. Camping experiences are often shared experiences and provide the space away from normal distractions to allow members of a group camping together to focus more energy on higherquality interactions together, in perhaps physically closer quarters than normal (Hardy et al., 2012).

One of the most influential 'push' factors that motivates an individual to go camping is it offering a pathway for reconnection to the natural environment (Garst et al., 2009; Kearns et al., 2017; Kristensen et al., 2021). This connection with nature can be achieved through immersing oneself within a dynamic natural ecosystem and, therefore, connecting with the environment on a direct level (Hrgović et al., 2018). In a study by Hassell et al. (2015), campers expressed how the connection with nature also helped them to reconnect with themselves and subsequently affirm self-identity. Camping enables these connections to form as individuals become fully immersed in nature and thereafter gain an increased respect and awareness for the extent of the risks faced by the natural environment due to modern global trends. This connection subsequently stimulated the campers to change their behaviours and reassess their identity in terms of environmental awareness. A further 'push' factor is evident with camping being viewed as a sustainable tourism approach. Eco-camping falls within the bracket of sustainable tourism, involving camping which aims to have little to no environmental impact (Alberts, 2014). A willingness to pay for 'greener initiatives' that support sustainability and protection of the environment has become increasingly popular for camping tourists, who maintain a desire to contribute to the preservation of natural areas when undertaking tourism activities (Ellis, 2010).

2.2.2 Barriers to camping

While previously discussing the motives behind why people want to go camping, it is also important to consider the potential restrictions or barriers to accessing this form of tourism. A review of the current literature highlights a slight lack of work specifically considering the barriers to participation in camping. This is surprising given the range of research about barriers to participation in a variety of other outdoor recreation activities (Hines et al., 2019; Menzies et al., 2021; Schwartz & Corkery, 2011). Despite this, some pieces of research have highlighted different potential barriers to camping participation. Snyder and Evans (2017) examined how fears over safety and crime are prevalent within camping tourism in the USA. The results of their investigation suggest that fear of crime while camping was only apparent in some locations and proposed that further research into this area could highlight how crime in specific areas could potentially be tackled going forwards so that visitor numbers are not affected. In another study considering barriers to participation in camping undertaken in Israel, Ram and Hall (2020) concluded that overcrowding was the main barrier to participation on camping holidays. The respondents in their study had a preference for solitude as a key part of the camping experience, and the concern for busy or overcrowded campsites was enough of a barrier to dissuade participation in camping.

A survey conducted with younger children in Serbia by Miletić et al. (2018) found that of the 252 children in the sample, 15% stated that they would not like to go camping. The most common fears associated with camping were directed towards wild animals, small creatures such as spiders or bugs, the darkness, and strangers. All the aforementioned fears fall into the category of 'the unknown' and the authors argue that these fears can be eradicated by building a stronger relationship with the children and familiarising them with the camp setting.

Barriers related to gender have been reported when accessing a range of outdoor recreation activities (eg Boniface, 2006; Doran, 2016; Little, 2002; Low et al., 2020) including climbing and mountaineering (Doran et al., 2018; 2020), hiking (Stanley, 2020), and surfing (Fendt & Wilson, 2012). However, the review of literature revealed only one study that has examined gender in relation to camping (see Van Heerden, 2020). Further, this study, conducted in South Africa, focused on the gender differences in motivations to camp and camping behaviour, rather than barriers. Nevertheless, the reinforcement of traditionally assigned gender roles did emerge as a key finding. Males reported preferring the physical activity of camping and therefore assumed responsibility for organising all the intensive labour activities, such as pitching tents, enabling them to display their self-identity through camping. Whereas females reported see camping as an opportunity for relaxation. This is of note, as it has been found in the aforementioned outdoor recreation studies that females are motivated by the physical nature of outdoor activities, as it makes them feel stronger, self-reliant, and independent, it aids their identity as an outdoorsy person (eg a hiker, a climber), and it enables them to be themselves and not conform to traditionally assigned gender roles. Further research is needed to examine gender in relation to camping, informed by the body of literature that exists on barriers to participation in other outdoor recreation and tourism activities, and in a range of geographic locations to identify cultural similarities and disparities.

Similarly, ethnicity and disability in the context of camping need examination, as individuals from minoritised ethnic groups and with disabilities are currently under-represented in camping tourism and recreation research. Again, this should be informed by current literature on participation in other outdoor recreation and tourism activities by these individuals, although this body of literature is also small. Thus, research in this area could be pioneering and could contribute to addressing the inequalities in access. For example, it has been found that children from minoritised ethnic groups are half as likely to visit the countryside than white children (Natural England, 2019a), people from minority ethnic groups have on average 11 times less access to green spaces (Natural England, 2019b) and over 20% of England's population cannot use public rights of way due to mobility issues (Natural England, 2018).

2.3 Benefits of camping

It is the perceived benefits of camping that drive the aforementioned motivations. The benefits of camping are complex, and various factors influence how an individual derives meaning and gains benefit from going camping. However, the literature identifies benefits that broadly fall within two key areas: connection with nature and socialisation. Each influence individual social, emotional, psychological, and physical well-being (Hassell et al., 2015).

2.3.1 Connecting with nature

Individuals seeking a camping experience live predominantly in urbanised areas and lead a sedentary lifestyle that involves stressful work environments, dependence on technology, and an existence in a human-manufactured, commercialised world (Kearns et al., 2017; Sommer, 2020). Camping in natural settings has been noted as a means of escaping facets of urban life, providing restoration through improved air quality (compared to normal urban environments), reduced stress and anxiety, and a wide range of physical benefits, enabling campers to feel healthier (Berto, 2014; Jimenez et al., 2021). Further, camping tourism offers an alternative for those who seek sustainable and healthy tourism activities. This is particularly the case post-pandemic, as camping provides effective social distancing and a more isolated form of leisure (Bilim & Özer, 2021).

The opportunity to connect with nature through camping and its associated nature-based activities such as building campfires, hiking, swimming, fishing, biking, and exploring can be the most important part of the experience for many (Hassell et al., 2015). In children, these physical nature-based activities and unstructured free play have been associated with decreased risk or prevalence of obesity and improved cognition (McCurdy et al., 2010). These experiences and interactions allow the connection between the camper and natural environment to be established and repeatedly re-established with ongoing camping trips, promoting extensive benefits to their physical and mental well-being (Rantala & Puhakka, 2020). Therefore, the desire to reconnect with nature grows strong and experiences within nature, such as camping, are highly sought after. For example, Garst et al. (2009) examined the experiences of forest campers and found that interaction with nature was key to their experience.



2.3.2 Socialisation

Blichfeldt and Mikkelsen (2013; 2016) describe campsites as a bounded area for sociability where campers can relate to others and socialise in a manner where they feel liberated from the everyday constructs and structural norms, thus helping foster an egalitarian environment. The disconnection experienced through immersing in the natural environment while camping also provides time and space for socialisation and reconnection (Hassell et al., 2015). Morrow et al. (2014) further explored the effects of camping on relationships. Their findings showed that by taking time away from the usual home environment and participating in camping experiences, couples and friends were able to spend uninterrupted time together and therefore maintenance, strengthening or repair of relationships could occur. Research has identified family togetherness as a social implication of camping (Garst et al., 2009; Jirásek et al., 2017). In multiple cases, families reported improved functioning and strengthening of family bonds in campsites specifically, as special, or nostalgic places with strong associated memories and traditions over time (Triantafillidou & Siomkos, 2013). By spending time connecting to the natural world, others and oneself, camping can be an extremely liminal experience (Brooker & Joppe, 2013). The transitional nature of liminality shifts importance from the self to external others, creating a sense of equality among the group and a disregard for social status. The strengthening of social relationships and connection with others helps to fulfil the basic psychological need of relatedness (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and improves overall well-being.

2.4 Camping as an intervention for improved education and health

2.4.1 Camping for education and well-being

For many years there has been a growing body of evidence and debate surrounding the inclusion of outdoor activities (including camping) for educational means within both the national curriculum (Passy et al., 2019; Quay, 2016) and informal education (Buldur et al., 2020). Learning approaches that integrate the surrounding natural resources/environment and all human senses, especially alongside others, have been found to enhance well-being. For example, it can help children and young people overcome perceptions of risk (Erol & Gülen, 2019) and assist in character development in the outdoors, now more widely understood as positive education interventions (Pirchio et al., 2021). Children and young people also experience opportunities for developing self-reliance, building character strengths, enhancing relationships with others (relatedness), improving physical health and psychological well-being, and providing a remedy for dysfunctional behaviour as recognised in more psychotherapeutic practices (Andre et al., 2017; Cottrell & Cottrell, 2020; Mann et al., 2021; Passarelli et al., 2010; Veen et al., 2021).

These benefits of outdoor learning activities have been directly associated with camping residentials (eg Paul Hamlyn Foundation, 2011; Wilson & Sibthorp, 2018). Camping continues to be a core activity offered as part of a wide range of UK outdoor learning provision and progressive camping residentials (eg The Duke of Edinburgh's Award, The Scouts, and The Learning Away Initiative), and there are several eminent youth camps set up around the world, many of which are in North America such as YMCA camps, and Circle of Courage Programmes. Tong et al. (2020) conducted research to better understand the experiences and outcomes of Chinese children participating in organised holiday camping trips away from their families. Their qualitative study elicited many positive findings associated with the camping experience, including improved selfawareness, interpersonal skills, and general knowledge. The enhancement of these skills translates into educational settings, which is of high importance, particularly in Chinese contexts, where positive education during tourism is highly valued (Wen et al., 2019). Some negative outcomes were also noted, such as feelings of boredom and anxiety (Tong et al., 2020).

Harper (2017) conducted a scoping review of existing literature surrounding outdoor adventure programmes within the child and youth care field. One of the central categories for analysis was therapeutic camping, which highlighted a body of research around residential camp interventions, such as summer camps, as a suitable treatment for troubled youth (eg Arieli et al., 2001; Beker, 2001; Norton et al., 2014). Svoboda and Jirásek's (2021) work demonstrated that a snowshoeing and camping programme was enriching for the physical education of Slovenian students, helping them to gain a better understanding of the holistic essence of human life. Further, a recent study by Samuels et al. (2022) also found that camping encouraged positive youth development and self-determination in young people. These findings support the use of camping as an engaging educational intervention, noting that the camping experience can provide a setting that develops children by helping them to re-engage educationally and develop psychologically.

2.4.2 Camping for health and well-being

In addition to the positive educational benefits camping offers, there is a growing body of literature to support its use as an alternative or complementary nature-based therapeutic intervention in a non-clinical environment, coupled with its use in psychotherapeutic outdoor approaches.

The aim of health orientated interventions is to address the psychological, social, and physical health concerns associated with individuals who are medically unwell or in recovery (Hansen-Ketchum & Halpenny, 2011; Woods et al., 2013). Various studies confirm that nature-based activities (including camping) can enable and promote restorative and therapeutic benefits with broader health outcomes (Annerstedt & Währborg, 2011; Bowler et al., 2009; Clatworthy et al., 2013; Maller et al., 2006). Accordingly, UK professional bodies of psychology, counselling, and psychotherapy are now recognising the value of long-established therapeutic outdoor approaches and, consequently, using guidance on what individuals seeking help should look for in an outdoor therapist (Richards et al., 2020). Further, outdoor activities to tackle mental ill-health and reduce health inequalities are also being recognised in the UK's national public health policy and NHS practices as part of the national mandate for 'social prescribing'.

Referred to as 'green prescribing', individuals are prescribed nature-based activities, such as prescribed walking and cycling for health schemes, community gardening, foodgrowing, conservation projects, and outdoor meditation (Fullam et al., 2021; NHS, 2022). Camping offers a deep connection to nature and has potential to be a significant prescribed activity. Therefore, understanding the psychological, social, and physical health benefits derived from camping experiences has wider relevance and can inform important debates on outdoor therapy as an effective intervention for mental health conditions.

Research on camping as an applied health practice is still in its infancy, however, three key studies emerged in the review of literature. First, camping as a medical intervention for children (7-18 years) with a complex heart defect in the USA created meaningful experiences that fostered the development of relationships, feeling acceptance from others, and a space for freedom, fun and learning (Desai et al., 2014). The atmosphere of the camp helped to foster these positive outcomes and achieve desired therapeutic effects on the participants' subjective well-being. Second, a camping programme in Hungary for children and adolescents living with the long-term conditions of cancer, diabetes and juvenile immune arthritis resulted in the younger children reducing their autonomy to a normal level for their age (Békési et al., 2011). Prior to the camping programme it was noted they had a mature level of autonomy to cope with their illnesses. Satisfying autonomy is one of the basic psychological needs for fulfilment and is key to improving the general well-being of an individual (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Therefore, a reduction in their

autonomy was considered as a positive outcome for their well-being from the camping experience. Positive changes were also evident in the self-esteem and self-efficacy of the adolescents taking part, indicating the way in which the camping programme helped to address psychosocial demands caused by these long-term conditions. Finally, in a study on camping trips being used to support children with paediatric acquired brain injury (ABI) and their families, Analytis et al. (2021) identified how camping trips provided by a head injury charity offered opportunities for restoring a sense of security, increasing understanding of ABI, and enabling the enjoyment of typical childhood experiences for children with ABI. This, again, highlights the psychosocial benefits of camping as part of targeted interventions aimed at supporting children with the management of specific health conditions.

Camping as part of a clearly defined psychological intervention can also be seen in outdoor adventure programmes working with individuals with mental health conditions, as camping is a core activity of these programmes. These types of programmes are commonly referred to as Wilderness Therapy (Russell, 2002), Adventure Therapy (Gass et al., 2012), and Outdoor Therapy (Fernee et al., 2017).

It is not the scope of this review to examine the wide range of benefits associated with the diverse types of outdoor based therapy interventions (see Bowen & Neill., 2013; Cooley et al., 2020; Harper et al., 2021, for some examples of these benefits). However, as camping features as one of the ingredients of these programmes, for example, as part of backpacking trips in the wilderness, it is important to acknowledge the role camping plays in the wider provision of reputable psychological interventions. For example, Norton et al. (2017) found that in an adventure therapy programme involving hiking and camping, child trauma symptoms of depression and anxiety were successfully reduced. Other benefits of wilderness therapy for young people include social and emotional changes, such as reduced anger and increased emotional connection between youth and adults (Bettman & Tucker, 2011; Paquette & Vitaro, 2014).

Overall, the aforementioned studies support improvements in self-confidence, self-esteem, social interactions with others and reduced anxiety. These are all psychosocial and well-being benefits that can be nurtured to flourish within chronically ill or recovering individuals that participate in therapeutic camping (Desai et al., 2014; Harper, 2017; Ray & Jakubec, 2014). With camping providing a setting for identity construction, and given the range of associated beneficial outcomes, including improving autonomy and social wellbeing (Houge Mackenzie & Hodge, 2020; Olivos & Clayton, 2017), camping can aid self-development of individuals in different ways. However, further research is needed to better understand how the short-term benefits from camping approaches can be sustainable over a longer period of time for specific mental health conditions (Cotton & Butselaar, 2013), the role camping can play in addressing psychosocial aspects of a wider range of health conditions, and the costeffectiveness of camping interventions for targeted education and health priorities.

2.5 Happiness, well-being and their measurement

"Happiness is the meaning and purpose of life, the whole aim and end of human existence" – Aristotle

The pursuit of happiness has occupied human beings for centuries. However, in recent decades interest in wellbeing has extended beyond philosophy and psychology as governments increasingly recognise the value and importance of the well-being of their populations as key indicators of economic growth and social progress (Forgeard et al., 2011; Musikanski & Pollry, 2016). Internationally, the annual World Happiness Report links happiness to key developmental and political indicators and is used by many countries, alongside their own national data, to guide the development of public services and economic policy (Helliwell et al., 2022; Kahneman & Krueger, 2006).

Research into happiness and its broader concept of wellbeing has stemmed from two philosophical viewpoints: hedonia, which encompasses enjoyment of life and all its pleasures, and eudaimonia, which stems from the Greek word 'daimon' (true self) and encompasses self-realisation and the expression and fulfilment of one's inner potential (Disabato et al., 2016; Joshanloo et al., 2017; Waterman, 1993). Each of these philosophical perspectives has given rise to various conceptualisations and measures of well-being, each capturing different aspects of the human experience. However, the common thread throughout both perspectives is that well-being is not a single concept and is best embodied by a multifaceted approach (Schwanen & Atkinson, 2015).

Subjective well-being, rooted in the work of Ed Diener and colleagues, stems from the hedonic perspective and has been defined as "an umbrella term for the different valuations people make regarding their lives, the events happening to them, their bodies and minds, and the circumstances in which they live" (Diener, 2006, p.400). It is generally thought to consist of three psychological constructs that together capture how people think and feel about their lives and circumstances: life satisfaction (how people think about their lives in general) and positive and negative affect (how people feel about their lives right now). Eudaimonic well-being has, over the years, given rise to several well-validated measures capturing different aspects of this multi-faceted concept. One popular and wellvalidated conceptualisation is rooted in the work of Carol Ryff and colleagues, who identified six dimensions of what they termed 'psychological well-being': autonomy, environmental mastery, personal growth, purpose in life, relations with others, and self-acceptance (Ryff & Keyes, 1995).

The last two decades have witnessed the emergence of positive psychology as a scientific discipline (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). Positive psychology moves away from a focus on pathology and psychological deficits to a science of understanding how individuals can experience a life worth living (Compton, 2005). Key to positive psychology is the concept of 'flourishing', which is rooted in the work of Martin Seligman and in eudaimonia. Seligman (2011; 2018) proposed a new theory of happiness and well-being which proposes five pillars of well-being: positive emotion, engagement, meaning, positive relationships, and accomplishment. There



are similarities between this conceptualisation of well-being and Ryff's six dimensions of psychological well-being: both embody a multi-faceted approach to well-being, incorporating emotional, social, and psychological aspects. Positive psychology as a discipline has made and continues to make significant contributions towards a better understanding of well-being and its causes and consequences (eg Martela & Ryan, 2016; Ryan & Deci, 2001; Seligman, 2018).

The science of well-being has emerged largely separately - and often as an antidote to - discourse around mental health and mental illness. The World Health Organisation defines mental health as "a state of well-being in which the individual realises his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community" (WHO, 2022). The Mental Health Continuum (Keyes, 2006) reflects a theoretical framework for optimal positive mental health that includes three core components. Emotional wellbeing represents the hedonic tradition and incorporates life satisfaction and positive and negative affect (i.e. subjective well-being). Psychological well-being represents the eudaimonic tradition and incorporates the six dimensions proposed by Ryff and Keyes (1995). The third component, social well-being, also stems from the eudaimonic tradition and captures optimal social functioning. Keyes (2002; 2006) proposed using the Mental Health Continuum to categorise individuals into three associated mental health categories, which encapsulates the positive psychology approach (Keyes, 2006; Seligman, 2011). Flourishing represents optimal mental health, languishing represents poor mental health, with individuals in-between categorised as moderately mentally healthy. This measure and associated mental health categories have been used in a range of populations across the world. For example, Keyes (2002) found that 17.2% of individuals aged 25-74 in the United States were categorised as flourishing (with 12.1% languishing), and Santini et al. (2020) found that 82.8% of Canadians, 64.5% of Danes, and 38.6% of Dutch people were flourishing (with 0.9%, 3.9% and 1.6% languishing, respectively).

While well-being measurement has, on the whole, suffered from the lack of consensus around the definition of wellbeing, the ONS has, since 2011, used four items (ONS4) to capture the well-being of the UK population (Tinkler & Hicks, 2011). These were chosen to capture the main philosophical constructs associated with well-being: life satisfaction and happiness (subjective well-being), feeling one's life is worthwhile (eudaimonic well-being), and feeling anxious (negative affect). The questions ask people to consider how they feel about their lives across different time periods that reflect the stability of the underlying construct. Life satisfaction and worthwhile are asked in general, as these reflect relatively stable measures of well-being, happiness and anxiety are asked about in terms of the previous day, reflecting the fact that mood (affect) changes quickly depending on current circumstances. The ONS4 is used by policymakers to track the impact of large-scale changes – such as the Covid-19 pandemic – on the well-being of the nation. As such, it is an extremely reliable and theoretically sound measure of well-being.

To build a comprehensive picture of an individual's wellbeing requires a multifaceted approach to measurement, while evaluating the impact of specific interventions – such as spending time outdoors – on happiness and well-being calls for a focus on the specific aspect of well-being that is most likely to be impacted by that intervention. It is also important to consider timescale and mechanisms – a walk in the woods is likely to improve a person's mood in the short term through the release of endorphins, while regularly spending time camping and caravanning is likely to improve eudaimonic well-being and a person's sense of self and purpose in the longer term.

2.6 Conclusion

With happiness and well-being being important and prominent concepts in psychology, unsurprisingly the outdoor recreation and tourism industry and scholars within these fields have become increasingly interested in exploring well-being within these settings. Yet camping has largely been overlooked (see Morrow, 2013; Morrow et al., 2014; 2017). While Morrow and colleagues' work aids our understanding of camping as a recreation and tourism activity with a means of promoting well-being, these studies draw from a small sample (four participants) and their research design does not lend itself to capturing the multifaceted nature of well-being. The growing body of literature on camping tourism (see Brooker & Joppe, 2013, 2014; Hassel et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2021; Rogerson & Rogerson, 2020; Triantafillidou & Siomkos, 2013) also provides useful insights on the well-being benefits of camping, although, as this is not the specific focus of these studies, they instead provide broader information regarding the experiences and behaviours of campers. Conversely, the well-being benefits of other outdoor activities, outdoor education programmes, and being in nature has received significant academic interest (eg Berto, 2014; Capaldi et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2020).

What is missing, is a comprehensive examination of wellbeing in the context of camping recreation and tourism, drawing on a range of recognised indicators of happiness and well-being. Further, given that camping has been found to be a successful health intervention prescribed by healthcare professionals (see Cotton & Butselaar, 2013; Desai et al., 2014) and a positive education intervention for the development of children (Pirchio et al., 2021), a study of this nature could not only inform the development of camping experiences that promotes well-being in recreation and tourism settings, but also for medical and education intervention purposes. Thus, it could inform industry practice, national health and education policies, and make a valuable contribution to the growing academic research in this area.

3.1 Overview of methods

Survey data was collected through The Camping and Caravanning Club's members and their partners, social media groups on LinkedIn, Facebook, and Twitter, and through the research team's professional and personal networks, via an online Qualtrics survey.

The questionnaire ascertained information from both campers and non campers about the value of spending time outdoors and in nature (including their personal well-being, their emotional, social, and psychological well-being, and their perceived stress). Campers were also asked about their camping motivations and behaviour, and non campers were asked what prevented them from camping. Camping was defined as the use of tents, caravans, campervans and motorhomes, trailer-tents and folding-campers, glamping, and static caravans.

In preparation for the survey, the questionnaire was subjected to a protocol analysis with both campers and non campers who were encouraged to think aloud as they completed each question. The aim was to test the wording and sequencing of the questions, the respondents' understanding of the questions, the layout of the questionnaire and the time it took to complete the questionnaire (Veal, 2018). The questionnaire was then pilot tested using a small sample from the target population (N = 5) to re-examine the validity of each question and assess the questionnaire as a whole in terms of the question flow and time to complete the survey in real-time. The study had full Ethical Research Approval from both Liverpool John Moores and Sheffield Hallam University.

3.2 Participants

A self-selected sample of 15,127 people over the age of 18 completed the questionnaire in February 2022. After deleting 4,135 incomplete questionnaires, the survey produced 10,992 useable responses, which comprised 10,598 camper responses and 394 non camper responses. The sample characteristics are presented in Table 1. Whilst the non camper sample is much smaller than the camper sample, a margin of statistical error was established using a 95% confidence interval. In other words, 'if 100 samples of the same size were drawn, in 95 cases we would expect the value of the statistic to be within two standard errors of the population value, and in 5 cases we would expect it to be outside this range' (Veal, 2018, p.422).

3.3 Measures

Motivations for camping and the constraints that prevented people from camping were measured on five-point agreement/disagreement scales comprising items found to be important in previous studies about people going both camping and into green spaces (see section 2.2).

The survey also included questions about the type of camping the respondents engaged in, with whom, the frequency, duration and location of their camping, the green and natural spaces they accessed and the activities they participate in while camping, together with respondent demographics. The participants' well-being was measured on scales comprising of items validated in previous research, as outlined on page 17.



Table 1: Characteristics of survey respondents

	Campers		Non campers	
Variable	n	%	n	%
Gender:				
Woman	4530	41.2%	154	39.1%
Man	6299	57.3%	229	58.1%
Non-Binary	13	0.1%	4	1%
In another way (please describe)	44	0.4%	1	0.3%
Prefer not to say	99	0.9%	6	1.5%
Age:				
18-24	15	0.1%	1	0.3%
25-34	144	1.3%	21	5.3%
35-44	568	5.2%	51	12.9%
45-54	1279	11.6%	37	9.4%
55-64	3488	31.7%	99	25.1%
65 and over	5367	48.8%	183	46.4%
Highest education level:				
Secondary school	2106	19.2%	79	20.1%
Further education	4157	37.8%	120	30.5%
Bachelor's degree	3006	27.3%	117	29.7%
Master's degree	1235	11.2%	50	12.7%
Doctorate	243	2.2%	17	4.3%
Prefer not to say	224	2%	10	2.5%
Employment status:				
Employed	3148	28.6%	141	35.8%
Unemployed	118	1.1%	10	2.5%
Self-employed	700	6.4%	20	5.1%
Student	12	0.1%	2	0.5%
Carer	81	0.7%	1	0.5%
Retired	6800	61.9%	212	53.8%
Prefer not to say	116	1.1%	6	1.5%
Country of residence:				
Wales	442	4%	14	3.6%
Scotland	955	8.7%	34	8.6%
Northern Ireland	94	0.9%	4	1.0%
England	9388	85.4%	340	86.3%
Other, please state	69	0.6%	1	0.3%

5

(Continued on page 16)

Table 1: Characteristics of survey respondents (continued)

	Campers		Non campers	
Variable	n	%	n	%
Household income				
<£10,000	245	2.2%	11	2.8%
£11,000 - £20,000	1347	12.3%	50	12.7%
£21,000 - £30,000	1942	17.7%	56	14.2%
£31,000 - £40,000	1502	13.7%	54	13.7%
£41,000 - £50,000	1127	10.3%	42	10.7%
£51,000 - £80,000	1353	12.3%	45	11.4%
£81,000 - £100,000	480	4.4%	26	6.6%
£101,000 - £150,000	122	1.1%	2	0.5%
£151,000+	2543	23.1%	82	21%
Prefer not to say	284	2.6%	22	5.6%
Ethnic group or background:				
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British	10,491	95.4%	348	88.3%
Irish	73	0.7%	3	0.8%
Gypsy or Irish Traveller	3	0%	1	0.3%
Any other White background	59	0.5%	2	0.5%
White and Black African	57	0.5%	2	0.5%
White and Black Caribbean	10	0.1%	1	0.3%
White and Asian	81	0.7%	17	4.3%
Any other Mixed/Multiple ethnic background	68	0.6%	3	0.8%
Indian	7	0.1%	0	0%
Pakistani	1	0%	0	0%
Bangladeshi	1	0%	0	0%
Chinese	6	0.1%	1	0.3%
Any other Asian background	7	0.1%	1	0.3%
African	2	0%	0	0%
Caribbean	3	0%	1	0.3%
Arab	3	0%	2	0.5%
Any other ethnic group	16	0.1%	4	1.0%
Prefer not to say	87	0.8%	8	2.0%
Overall health				
Excellent	1516	13.8%	64	16.2%
Very good	1461	13.3%	64	16.2%
Good	3245	29.5%	114	28.9%
Fair	4353	39.6%	118	29.9%
Poor	376	3.4%	33	8.4%

Ł

3.3.1 Office for National Statistics measurement of personal well-being

The general concept of happiness and well-being has been examined at national population level in the UK since 2011 as part of the Annual Population Survey (APS) when the Office for National Statistics (ONS) introduced questions on personal well-being to this survey. This includes four simple questions, referred to as the ONS4, related to feelings of satisfaction with life, feeling as if life activities are worthwhile, happiness, and anxiety, which are measured on a 0-10 Likert scale. The ONS data provide national estimates of personal well-being in the UK that are published quarterly, therefore, this measurement of well-being for campers can be compared with that of a wider UK population data set (ONS, 2021).

3.3.2 Perceived Stress Scale

Stress is important in considering health and well-being, as it is a symptom of a range of health issues (including mental health) (Vallejo et al., 2018). The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) is a self-reporting questionnaire that measures an individual's appraisal of psychological stress over the last month with questions assessing 'the extent to which one's life is perceived as unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloading' (Cohen et al., 1983, p.387). This scale uses a 0 = never to 4 = often measurement. It is one of the most widely used approaches for assessing this aspect of stress and has been used in a variety of countries and translated into different languages (Vallejo et al., 2018). Being able to examine the interrelationship between perceptions of stress for campers and non campers will help us to further consider the health and well-being benefits of camping. Especially as, a significant body of literature (eg Jimenez, et al., 2021) provides evidence that exposure to nature, which camping activities facilitate, aids stress reduction (Berto, 2014).

3.3.3 Mental Health Continuum Short Form

As previously identified, the prevalence of mental health can be categorised into one of three associated categories: 1) flourishing, 2) moderately mentally healthy, or 3) languishing (Keyes, 2002; 2007). This indicator of mental health is determined by the combination of both hedonic (emotional) well-being – feeling good – and eudaimonic (psychological and social) well-being - functioning well. The Mental Health Continuum Short Form (MHC-SF) is a tool that both categorises and assesses individual symptoms of positive mental health across these combined dimensions. It has 14 guestions, with three items for emotional well-being, five items for social well-being and six items for psychological well-being. Those who answered 'every day' or 'almost every day' at least once in the emotional well-being scale and at least six times across the 11 items measuring social and psychological well-being were classified as flourishing. Participants reporting 'never' or 'once or twice' at least once in the emotional well-being scale and at least six times on the social and/or psychological well-being scales were classified as languishing. The respondents that did not fit the criteria for flourishing or languishing are categorised as moderately mentally healthy.

This tool will help to ascertain levels of mental health for campers and non campers, including specific aspects of hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. Like the PSS, the MHC-



SF will further assist with the examination of the relationship between camping and, by its association, being in nature to improve mental health.

3.3.4 Ryff Scale of Psychological Well-Being

While the previous scales offer a starting point to understand key aspects of well-being and enable comparisons to be made with the wider UK population (ONS scale) it is recognised that the notion of happiness and well-being is far more complex. The Ryff Scale of Psychological Well-Being (Ryff, 1989; Ryff et al., 2007) reflects a multidimensional model of well-being that addresses the issue that 'there is more to being well than feeling happy and satisfied with life' (Ryff & Keyes, 1995, p.725). The scale is more thorough than previous scales, with a 42-item guestionnaire that measures six psychological dimensions of well-being and happiness in more depth. These are 1) Self-Acceptance, 2) Positive Relations with Others, 3) Autonomy, 4) Environmental Mastery, 5) Purpose in Life, and 6) Personal Growth (see Table 2 for a detailed overview of each of these dimensions and indicators associated with either a High or Low score). Respondents rate statements on a scale of one to six, with one indicating strong disagreement and six indicating strong agreement. The inclusion of this scale enables a more detailed analysis of how camping contributes to happiness and psychological well-being.

Dimension	High scorer	Low scorer
Self-Acceptance Positive evaluations of oneself and one's past life	Possesses a positive attitude toward the self; acknowledges and accepts multiple aspects of self, including good and bad qualities; feels positive about past life.	Feels dissatisfied with self, is disappointed with what has occurred in past life, is troubled about certain personal qualities, wishes to be different than what he or she is.
Positive Relations with Others Possession of quality relations with others	Has warm, satisfying, trusting relationships with others; is concerned about the welfare of others; capable of strong empathy, affection, and intimacy; understands give and take of human relationships.	Has few close, trusting relationships with others; finds it difficult to be warm, open, and concerned about others; is isolated and frustrated in interpersonal relationships; not willing to make compromises to sustain important ties with others.
Autonomy A sense of self-determination	Is self-determining and independent, able to resist social pressures to think and act in certain ways, regulates behaviour from within, evaluates self by personal standards.	Is concerned about the expectations and evaluations of others, relies on judgments of others to make important decisions, conforms to social pressures to think and act in certain ways.
Environmental Mastery The capacity to manage effectively one's life and surrounding world	Has a sense of mastery and competence in managing the environment, controls complex array of external activities, makes effective use of surrounding opportunities, able to choose or create contexts suitable to personal needs and values.	Has difficulty managing everyday affairs, feels unable to change or improve surrounding context, is unaware of surrounding opportunities, lacks sense of control over external world.
Purpose in Life The belief that one's life is purposeful and meaningful	Has goals in life and a sense of directedness, feels there is meaning to present and past life, holds beliefs that give life purpose, has aims and objectives for living.	Lacks a sense of meaning in life; has few goals or aims, lacks sense of direction; does not see purpose in past life; has no outlooks or beliefs that give life meaning.
Personal Growth Development as a person	Has a feeling of continued development, sees self as growing and expanding, is open to new experiences, has sense of realising his or her potential, sees improvement in self and behaviour over time, is changing in ways that reflect more self-knowledge and effectiveness.	Has a sense of personal stagnation, lacks sense of improvement or expansion over time, feels bored and uninterested with life, feels unable to develop new attitudes or behaviours.

3.3.5 Nature Connection Index

The relationship between improved mental well-being and being in the natural environment has a growing evidence base (eg Cox et al., 2017; Natural England, 2016; Saraev, 2020). Consequently, the notion of nature connectedness has been conceptualised and defined as 'a measurable psychological construct that describes a person's relationship with the natural world' (Natural England, 2020, p.7). In addition to improved well-being, nature connectedness has also been linked to pro-environmental behaviours. The Nature Connection Index is a scale that uses six statements to assess a person's emotional and cognitive relationship to nature, and their sense of place (Natural England, 2020; Richardson et al., 2019). Respondents rate their level of agreement with statements on a seven-point Likert scale. This scale will be key in ascertaining campers' and non campers' connection to nature and how this connection interrelates with dimensions of their mental well-being. This scale is used as part of The Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment

Source: Ryff and Keyes (1995, p. 1072)

(MENE) survey (Natural England, 2020). Thus, it offers the ability to make comparisons between our survey respondents and population data in England on nature connectedness.

3.4 Procedures

Using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 26, a random sample of 394 respondents was extracted from the larger camper group to compare directly with the 394 respondents in the non camper group. The camper subgroup was only used when analysing the camper and non camper responses together. When analysis focused solely on campers, the larger camper group (N = 10,598) was used. For analysis that examined the frequency of camping, the larger camping group was divided into two groups according to camping frequency of six-plus times a year (55%) versus less than six times a year (45%). Where small amounts of data were missing at random, the mean for all participants was inputted (mean substitution).



Analysis began by calculating descriptive statistics for each variable (survey question). These descriptive statistics include the frequency (number and percentage), mean (average), and standard deviation (how dispersed the data is in relation to the mean). The analysis then focused on ascertaining if there were statistically significant differences between the camper and non-camper groups, and the frequent and less frequent campers, using independent samples t-tests and one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) with post-hoc tests. Independent samples t-tests were used to compare the mean scores on all the well-being scales for campers vs non campers and frequent vs less frequent campers.

A series of one-way ANOVAs were used to identify differences in the levels of campers' well-being on the basis of campers' behavioural and demographic variables such as age. Chi-square tests for independence were used to explore differences between the campers and non campers with the variables related to the time spent outdoors and the value of being outdoors; and between campers and non campers, and frequent and less frequent campers, on the percentage categorised as flourishing, languishing, and moderately mentally healthy.

All statistical tests were appropriate for the levels of data i.e. parametric tests (t-tests, ANOVAs and regression) were used for the analysis of interval level data and nonparametric tests (chi-square tests) were used for the analysis of nominal level data. A p-value of 0.05 was used, meaning that it is unlikely (less than 5%) that the results occurred by chance. A p-value higher than 0.05 is not accepted as being statistically significant as it indicates a greater likelihood that the results occurred by chance. Further details of the statistical techniques used to analyse the survey data can be found in Appendices 8.1–8.7.

Section 4: Results

The findings are reported under the three key themes of the survey: 1) spending time outdoors, 2) well-being benefits, and 3) camping behaviours. This means the results are not always presented in the survey's question sequence. The relevance of these results is considered in the later Discussion of Key Findings (see Section 5).

4.1 Spending time outdoors

4.1.1 Frequency and value of spending time outside in green and natural spaces

The findings show that both campers and non campers value spending time outside in green and natural spaces and have similar frequency patterns. For example, 31% of non-campers and 32% of campers stated they have spent time in these spaces every day in the last 12 months, and 28% of non-campers and 43% of campers stated they have done this more than twice a week, but not every day in the last 12 months.

During Covid-19 restrictions, the time spent outside in green and natural spaces was similar for both campers and non campers, although campers scored slightly higher. For most it stayed about the same (45% vs 38%), for some it increased a little (26% vs 20%) and for a small proportion it increased a lot with non campers (15%) marginally experiencing this more than campers (12%). More non campers (27%) than campers (17%) reduced the amount of time they spent outside in these spaces during Covid-19 restrictions. Correspondingly, 53% of the survey respondents stated that they felt very positive and 30% somewhat positive of healthcare professionals prescribing spending time in nature instead of medication for a mental health issue or condition. There were also high levels of agreement with the statements regarding every child having an opportunity for learning in nature as part of their formal education, with 77% feeling positive and 17% feeling somewhat positive about this. Likewise, 74% of respondents were very positive and 19% somewhat positive about children having an opportunity to go camping as part of their formal education.

Appendix 8.1 presents the chi-square results and shows that while there is a statistically significant difference between campers and non campers for the variables explained in this section, the difference is small. The similarity between the camper and non camper groups is likely attributed to the non campers' preference to spend time outdoors.

4.1.2 Green and natural spaces accessed while camping

The frequencies presented in Table 3 highlight the popularity of accessing green and natural spaces while camping, which corresponds with the campers' high frequency levels of spending time outdoors and in nature in general (see section 4.1.1), and the high value they place on these spaces for their health and well-being (see section 4.2.6).

Table 3: Green and natural spaces accessed whilst camping

Green and natural spaces accessed whilst camping	Frequency
Woodland or forest	82%
Beach / other coastline / sea	82%
River / lake / canal	80%
Hill / mountain / moorland	68%
Fields / farmland / lowland countryside	60%
Nature / wildlife reserve	57%
Grounds of a historic property / country park	52%
Urban green space (such as park, field, or playground)	26%

4.1.3 Nature Connection Index

The results of the Nature Connection Index (NCI) analysis can be found in Appendices 8.2 and 8.4. When comparing campers to non campers, campers scored significantly higher on the NCI than non campers (68.09 vs 62.89) – although again, the standard deviation shows there was quite a lot of variation within the camper and non camper groups. As can be seen in Figure 1, campers also scored significantly higher than non campers on the six individual NCI items.



The average NCI score for campers overall (10,598 campers) was 70.09, which is higher than the average of 61.16 reported by Richardson et al. (2019) during the validation of the NCI. The standard deviation of 27.69 is similar to that found by Richardson and colleagues (27.88) and indicates considerable variation within the group.

There were no significant differences between frequent and less frequent campers on the NCI. There were, however, differences according to the type of camping engaged with (see section 4.3.1). As can be seen in Figure 2, wild campers reported the highest nature connectedness (73.04), followed closely by campervan users (72.25), while touring caravan (68.81) and motorhome (70.01) users reported the lowest. Although it was not possible to compare these results statistically due to campers being able to choose more than one type of camping, they nevertheless suggest that campers who engage in camping activities that bring them close to nature do also report higher nature connectedness.



Appendix 8.4 shows correlations between the NCI and all the well-being variables, including perceived stress. The NCI was weakly correlated with the positively worded ONS items, the MHC-SF subscales, and the Ryff subscales, with the strongest correlations being with personal growth (r=.150, p<.001) and relations with others (r=.132, p<.001). Interestingly, the NCI was not significantly correlated with the negative items – perceived stress and anxiety.



4.2 Well-being dimensions

4.2.1 Office for National Statistics personal well-being scales

The results for the analyses of the ONS4 items can be found in Appendices 8.3 and 8.4. As can be seen in Figure 3, campers reported better well-being overall, scoring higher on life satisfaction (7.41 vs 6.62), worthwhile (7.60 vs 6.78), and happy (7.44 vs 6.51), and lower on anxious (3.09 vs 3.93). When compared to ONS data for the UK population in April-September 2021 (the most recently available data), campers scored close to the population mean for all four items (life satisfaction: 7.55; worthwhile: 7.82; happy: 7.47, and anxiety: 3.10 (ONS, 2022)), whereas non campers scored considerably lower. Because the last ONS study was conducted in the summer and this study was conducted in winter (February 2022) when people's perception of their well-being is likely to be lower than in the summer months, comparisons cannot be fully made.

Among campers, the mean ONS scores were similar to those of the general UK population. However, Figure 4 shows that frequent campers reported better well-being and lower anxiety than less frequent campers.





As can be seen from Figure 5, there were some slight differences in ONS4 scores by type of camping reported, with motorhome users reporting the best well-being, closely followed by touring caravan and campervan users. Those who camped under canvas reported lower well-being and higher anxiety – although wild campers' well-being was considerably higher and close to that reported by trailer-tent/ folding-camper users. It is possible, however, that these differences can largely be explained by demographic differences between these groups - for example, motorhome users were more likely than tent (campsite) users to be aged 65+ (55.1% vs 29.0%), retired (71.2% vs 39.0%) and have a household income above £150,000 (24.5% vs 18.8%).



4.2.2 Flourishing: The Mental Health Continuum Short Form Scale (MHC-SF)

As can be seen in Figure 6, campers were significantly more

likely to be flourishing than non-campers (43.9% vs 30.5%) and less likely to be languishing (4.8% vs 11.4%) or moderately mentally healthy (51.3% vs 58.1%).



Campers also scored significantly higher than non campers on the MHC-SF subscales, reporting better emotional (11.57 vs



Among campers, 41.7% (4419) were flourishing, 5.9% (630) were languishing, and 52.4% (5549) were moderately mentally healthy. As can be seen in Figure 8, campers who reported going camping frequently (six or more times a year) were significantly more likely to be flourishing (44.6%

vs 38.1%), and less likely to be languishing (5.1% vs 6.9%) or moderately mentally healthy (50.3% vs 55.0%) than campers who reported going camping less frequently (less than six times a year).



More frequent campers also scored significantly higher than less frequent campers on the MHC-SF subscales, reporting better emotional, social, and psychological well-being (see Figure 9).

The full results for this analysis, including descriptive statistics,

Chi-squared and t tests, can be found in Appendices 8.3, 8.4 and 8.5.

A further percentage breakdown of the individual sub scales of the Mental Health Continuum-SF subscale are listed below for general reference.



Emotional well-being

- Campers are happier: 48% of campers reported feeling happy almost every day compared to 35% of non campers.
- Campers are more interested in life: 41% of campers reported feeling interested in life almost every day compared to 33% of non campers. 37% of campers reported feeling interested in life every day compared to 27% of non campers.
- Campers are more satisfied with life: 42% of campers reported feeling satisfied with life almost every day compared to 34% of non campers. 27% of campers reported feeling satisfied with life every day compared to 16% of non campers.

Social well-being

- Both groups feel society is becoming a better place: 40% of campers and non campers reported never feeling that society is becoming a better place for all people, and a further 30% of campers and 23% of non campers felt this once or twice in the last month.
- Campers have a stronger sense of belonging to a community: 19% of campers felt this every day compared to 12% of non campers. Only 12% of campers never felt that they did not belong to a community (like a social group or your neighbourhood), whereas 22% of non campers felt this.
- Campers feel that people are good: Campers reported feeling that people are basically good more frequently

during the last month than non-campers. For example, 32% of campers felt this almost every day compared to 21% of non campers and 27% of campers felt this about two or three times in the last month compared to 24% of non campers.

• Both groups feel society makes sense: Both campers and non campers reported similar results for the statement 'the way our society works makes sense to you'.

Psychological well-being

- Campers feel they can manage their responsibilities more: 32% of campers reported feeling like they are good at managing the responsibilities of their daily lives in the last month, whereas only 21% of non campers felt this way.
- Both groups feel they have warm and trusting relationships with others: The majority of both campers and non campers felt either every day or almost every day in the last month that they have a warm and trusting relationship with others.
- Campers have more confidence in expressing themselves: Slightly more (13%) campers than non campers reported feeling confident to think or express their own ideas and opinions either every day or almost every day in the last month.
- Campers reported feeling like they have less direction in their lives compared to non campers. For example, 58% reported feeling this either every day or almost every day in the last month compared to 42% of non campers.

4.2.3 Perceived Stress Scale

Individual scores on the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) can range from 0 to 40 with higher scores indicating higher perceived stress (Cohen et al., 1983).

- Scores ranging from 0-13 would be considered low stress.
- Scores ranging from 14-26 would be considered moderate stress.
- Scores ranging from 27-40 would be considered high perceived stress.

Results from the PSS scale can be found in Appendices 8.3 and 8.4. Campers reported significantly lower perceived stress than non campers (16.07 vs 18.25). Among campers, frequent campers reported significantly lower perceived stress than less frequent campers (15.98 vs 16.80).

Figure 10 shows the mean perceived stress scale scores for the different types of camping reported. The lowest perceived stress was reported by motorhome users, with wild campers, touring caravan and campervan users all reporting similar levels of perceived stress and glampers reporting the highest stress.





4.2.4 Six dimensions of psychological well-being: Ryff Scale

Appendices 8.3 and 8.4 show the results for the analyses of the Ryff Psychological well-being dimensions.

dimensions of psychological well-being: autonomy (37.06 vs 34.60), environmental mastery (38.38 vs 33.53), personal growth (37.48 vs 34.15), relations with others (39.95 vs 36.44), purpose in life (36.79 vs 32.89) and self-acceptance (35.90 vs 32.10). These differences are illustrated in Figure 11.

Campers reported significantly higher scores on all six



Among campers, frequent campers reported significantly higher scores on all six dimensions of psychological wellbeing, although these differences were smaller than between campers and non campers: autonomy (37.12 vs 35.92),

environmental mastery (38.81 vs 36.79), personal growth (37.79 vs 36.58), relations with others (39.59 vs 38.58), purpose in life (37.44 vs 35.81), and self-acceptance (36.28 vs 34.31). Figure 12 illustrates these differences.



4.2.5 The impact of campers' age on their personal well-being

For this analysis, which is presented in Appendix 8.6, campers aged 18-44 (N=654) were combined into one group and compared with campers aged 45-54 (N=1242), 55-64 (N=3389) and 65+ (N=7184). There was a significant improvement in personal well-being across age groups. For the majority of well-being measures, there was a clear

gradient: campers aged 18-44 scored lowest and scores increased across the age groups. This pattern was repeated for the perceived stress and ONS anxiety measures, with the youngest reporting the most stress and anxiety and scores decreasing with increasing age. The largest differences were seen for the environmental mastery and autonomy subscales of the Ryff measure, and the perceived stress scale – and these are illustrated in Figure 13 below.



As can be seen in Figure 14, 45.9% of the campers aged 65 and over were categorised as flourishing and 4.0% as languishing, where among the younger age groups 33.6%-

39.3% were categorised as flourishing and 7.1%-9.9% as languishing. These differences were statistically significant (see Appendix 8.6).



4.2.6 The value of camping for health and well-being

The respondents place a high value on camping for their health and well-being and this did not change during Covid-19. Overall, 93% of campers felt positive about this, although the composition of this varies slightly before Covid-19 restrictions began (73% felt very positive and 20% felt somewhat positive) and during Covid restrictions (75% felt very positive and 18% felt somewhat positive). In essence, Covid-19 did not change the value people place on camping for their health and well-being.

4.3 Camping behaviours

4.3.1 Types of camping

Mainly caravan, motorhome, campervan, and tent (campsite) users completed the survey (see Table 4).

Table 4: Type of camping

Type of camping	N (%) of Campers
Caravan (touring)	4102 (38.7%)
Motorhome	3424 (32.3%)
Campervan	2455 (23.2%)
Tent (campsite)	1972 (18.6%)
Tent (wild camping and bivvying)	634 (6.0%)
Caravan (static)	494 (4.7%)
Tent (festival camping)	458 (4.3%)
Glamping	290 (2.7%)
Trailer-tent/Folding-camper	312 (2.9%)

4.3.2 Camping motivations

Table 5 presents the results for the motivation statements, which were scored from 1 = Strongly disagree to 5 = Strongly agree. A higher mean score, therefore, indicates greater endorsement of that statement. The table also indicates the percentage of campers who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement.

The results suggest that the majority of campers go camping because it makes them happy, they enjoy being in nature, to feel more relaxed, to enjoy an outdoor lifestyle and to visit the local area and sightsee.

Campers were less likely to endorse the motivations relating to children and young people, getting a better night's sleep, being alone, attending a festival, and to feel more connected to others. Again, this is likely due to the demographics of the sample, who were generally in the older (55+) age groups.

Table 5: Camping motivation scores

Variable	Mean	% Strongly Agree or Agree
I go camping as it makes me happy	4.72	97.4%
I go camping to enjoy being in nature	4.51	93.1%
I go camping to visit the local area and sightsee	4.49	92.0%
I go camping to make me feel more relaxed	4.48	91.1%
I go camping because I enjoy an outdoor lifestyle	4.47	91.6%
I go camping to take time out from everyday life	4.43	87.6%
I go camping to spend quality time with family	4.21	78.9%
I go camping to be physically active in the outdoors (eg walking, cycling, climbing, surfing)	4.19	79.0%
I go camping as it's an affordable form of accommodation and/or holiday	4.19	79.0%
I go camping to create lasting memories of shared experiences	4.16	80.1%
I go camping to have an adventure	4.02	75.9%
I go camping to pursue a hobby	3.64	56.8%
I go camping to spend quality time with friends	3.57	52.4%
I go camping to feel more connected with others	3.29	40.5%
I go camping because I want children and young people to enjoy an outdoor lifestyle	3.13	36.2%
I go camping because I want children and young people to connect with nature	3.01	31.0%
I go camping to get a better night's sleep	3.01	25.6%
I go camping to reconnect with others because I missed social interaction as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic	2.65	21.1%
I go camping to spend time alone	2.23	16.7%
I go camping because I am attending a festival	2.20	15.4%

4.3.3 Camping location

Regardless of the type of camping people do, most (2/3 of respondents) will choose to camp sometimes at the same campsite and other times at a different campsite. The remaining third prefer to camp at different campsites each time. Only 1-2% stay at the same campsite. For example, focusing on the four key types of camping:

- 65% of tent campers will sometimes stay at the same campsite and other times stay at a different campsite.
 33% chose to stay at different campsites. Only 2% stay at the same campsite.
- 63% of campervan users will sometimes stay at the same campsite and other times stay at a different campsite.
 36% chose to stay at different campsites. Only 1% stay at the same campsite.
- 69% of caravan (touring) users will sometimes stay at the same campsite and other times stay at a different campsite. 28% chose to stay at different campsites. Only 2% stay at the same campsite.
- 66% of motorhome users will sometimes stay at the same campsite and other times stay at a different campsite. 33% chose to stay at different campsites. Only 1% stay at the same campsite.

Also, 71% camp in the UK, 28% camp both in the UK and abroad and only 1% camp solely abroad.

4.3.4 Camping companions

Camping with a partner is significantly more popular than camping with others (see Table 6), although this is likely due to the demographics of the survey respondents, who are mainly over the age of 55.

Table 6: Camping companions

Camping companion	Frequency
I camp with my partner	85%
I camp with friends	30%
I camp with my children	24%
I camp with my grandchildren	19%
I camp alone	15%
I camp with my wider family	14%
I camp with a club/organised group	12%
I camp as part of my job	1%

4.3.5 Participation in outdoor activities whilst camping

98% of people who go camping participate in outdoor activities. Table 7 illustrates the outdoor activities which are most popular among campers while camping.

Outdoor activity	Frequency
Local / low level walks	91%
Hill walking / mountaineering	39%
Cycling / mountain biking	39%
Bird watching	26%
Outdoor swimming	18%
Fishing	10%
Canoeing / kayaking	10%
Running	6%
Surfing	4%
Sailing	3%
Climbing	3%
I don't participate in any outdoor activities when I go camping	2%
Caving	1%

Table 7: Participation in outdoor activities whilst camping

4.3.6 Frequency of camping

Many of the survey respondents have been camping for more than 30 years, which corresponds with the prominent age group of our respondents (55 years and over) (see Table 8).

Table 8: Years the respondents have been camping

Camping years	Frequency
<1 year	2%
1-3 years	7%
4-6 years	7%
7-10 years	7%
11-19 years	10%
20-29 years	9%
30+ years	57%

The survey respondents undertake multiple camping trips each year, which may reflect their high levels of Camping and Caravanning Club membership (see section 4.4.7) (see Table 9).

Table 9: Frequency of camping each year

Frequency of camping	Frequency	
Once a year	2%	
2-3 times a year	15%	
4-5 times a year	27%	
6-10 times a year	30%	
Over 10 times a year	25%	

Given the high frequency of camping trips per year, it is unsurprising that these largely consist of shorter trips lasting seven days or less (see Table 10).

Table 10: Days spent camping on each trip

Days spent camping per trip	Frequency
1-3 days	17%
4-7 days	49%
8-10 days	15%
11-14 days	9%
15-20 days	4%
21+ days	6%

For 51% of the survey respondents, Covid-19 restrictions have negatively impacted the time they spend camping. Specifically, 26% said it has decreased a lot and 25% said it has decreased a little. Given this reduction in the time spent camping for half of the survey respondents, it is positive that the respondents still place high value on camping for their health and well-being, as explained in Section 4.2.6. This indicates that, for these respondents, there is a motivation to return to camping for the benefits it can afford. For nearly a quarter of campers (23%), the time they spent camping during Covid-19 restrictions stayed about the same. Conversely, 25% said their time spent camping has increased: 13% of campers said it increased a little and 12% said it increased a lot.

4.3.7 The influence of household income on camping behaviour

Table 1 (Characteristics of survey respondents) in Section 3 and Table 11 on p.33 show that campers' household income is largely spread across the lower income bands between £11,000 - £80,000, with £21,000 - £30,000 (17.7%) being the most common household income within this range. Thus, it can be inferred that those with household incomes of £11,000 - £80,000 are more likely to go on camping holidays, which ties in with the affordability of camping being a key motivation for 79% of campers (see 4.3.2). The exception to this and the most prevalent household income reported by our survey respondents is £151,000+ (23.1%). Fewer campers with household incomes of <£10,000 (2.2%) or between £81,000 - £150,000 (5.5%) responded to the survey than those with other household incomes, indicating that people with these household incomes are less likely to go on camping holidays - or less likely to respond to surveys.

Most of the survey respondents were aged 55-64 (31.7%) and 65 and over (48.8%) and these age groups were present across all household income bands, although spiking in the £151,000+ band (22.5% and 27% respectively). This is to be expected as they are near the end of their careers with pensions, savings, and home equity bolstering their household income. Those aged less than 55 mainly reported a household income of £51,000 - £80,000.

Table 11 also presents the campers' household income against the frequency with which they camp each year. As noted in section 4.3.6 (see Table 9), many campers reported undertaking multiple camping trips each year with 6-10 times a year (30%) and 4-5 times a year (27%) being the most popular. Household income does not appear to influence this, as these two camping frequencies are preferred across all household incomes. Except for those with a household income of <£10,000 and £101,000 - £150,000 who marginally prefer to camp four to five times a year than six to 10 times a year, and those with a household income of £51,000 to £80,000 who would equally choose to camp four to five or six to 10 times a year.

Frequency of camping each year						
	Once a year	2-3 times a year	4-5 times a year	6-10 times a year	Over 10 times a year	% of Total (N = 10,598)
Household income						
<£10,000	3.4%	21.0%	28.8%	24.0%	22.7%	2.2%
£11,000 - £20,000	1.5%	16.4%	26.6%	28.0%	27.4%	12.3%
£21,000 - £30,000	1.1%	14.2%	27.0%	31.4%	26.2%	17.7%
£31,000 - £40,000	1.5%	14.5%	27.7%	30.9%	25.4%	13.7%
£41,000 - £50,000	2.3%	12.0%	28.3%	32.1%	25.2%	10.3%
£51,000 - £80,000	2.1%	16.6%	28.4%	28.8%	24.1%	12.3%
£81,000 - £100,000	4.2%	20.5%	23.6%	28.0%	23.6%	4.4%
£101,000 - £150,000	0.8%	18.5%	27.7%	26.9%	26.1%	1.1%
£151,000 +	2.0%	14.5%	26.6%	31.2%	25.7%	23.1%
Prefer not to say	2.3%	18.7%	27.5%	29.4%	22.1%	2.6%
% of Total (N = 10,598)	1.9%	15.2%	27.2%	30.2%	25.5%	

Table 11: Campers' household income vs frequency of camping each year

Those with a total household income of <£10,000 and £81,000 to £100,000 are not only less likely to go camping compared to people with other household incomes (see above), but they are also more likely to camp less frequently (once a year and 2-3 times a year). Further, they are also marginally more likely to stay in a tent than other forms of camping accommodation (see Table 12). Combined, these findings indicate that people with these household incomes have a lower preference for camping and/or have barriers that prevent them from camping and influence the type of camping they do compared to those with other household incomes.

When comparing campers' household income with the four main types of camping, again, household income does

not appear to influence this and campers from across all household incomes camp in tents (campsite) as well as caravans, motorhomes, and campervans. For example, those with a household income <£20,000 and £41,000 to £50,000 choose each type of camping equally, and those with a household income of £21,000 to £40,000 are marginally more likely to not stay in a tent. This indicates that campers with the lowest household incomes see all forms of camping as a viable form of accommodation and would not necessarily choose to stay in a tent (campsite) as the most cost-effective type of camping. Further, those with a household income of £51,000 to £150,000 are marginally (+1% - 4%) more likely to stay in a tent. In comparison, staying in a tent is the least preferred form of camping accommodation for those with the highest household income of £150,000+.

Frequency of camping each year						
	Caravan (touring) N = 4102 (38.7%)	Motorhome N = 3424 (32.3%)	Campervan N = 2455 (23.2%)	Tent (campsite) N = 1972 (18.6%)		
Household income						
<£10,000	1.7%	2.1%	2.3%	3.3%		
£.11,000 - £.20,000	12.6%	11.2%	12.7%	12.6%		
£21,000 - £30,000	18.4%	18.8%	17.1%	15.5%		
£31,000 - £40,000	14.3%	14.5%	12.4%	12.1%		
£41,000 - £50,000	10.4%	9.8%	10.7%	9.7%		
£51,000 - £80,000	11.9%	10.7%	13.2%	16.1%		
£81,000 - £100,000	3.6%	4.7%	5.1%	6.7%		
£101,000 - £150,000	0.7%	1.1%	2.0%	1.9%		
£151,000 +	24.3%	24.5%	21.1%	18.8%		
Prefer not to say	2.1%	2.5%	3.6%	3.5%		
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%		

Table 12: Campers' household income vs type of camping

4.3.8 Membership of The Camping and Caravanning Club

96% of the camping survey respondents are members of The Camping and Caravanning Club, 1% are members of a different camping and caravanning related club, and 3% are not members of any club.

4.3.9 Barriers to camping for non-camper survey respondents

When asked what prevents non-campers from camping, a preference to do other leisure activities or use other forms of holiday accommodation was the most prominent reason (see Table 13).

Table 13: Barriers to camping for non-campers

Barriers to camping	Frequency
Prefer to do other leisure activities or use other forms of holiday accommodation	32%
Bad/poor weather	26%
Too busy at home / with family commitments	20%
Staying at home to stop Covid-19 spreading/government restrictions	19%
Poor physical health (or illness)	18%
My physical ability	17%
lack of general home comforts (eg showers, heating etc.)	17%
Too busy at work	13%
Don't have access to camping equipment	12%
Don't have anyone else to go with	12%
It is too expensive	9%
Poor mental health or well-being	9%
Don't like camping/just not interested	8%
Lack of facilities and access points for those with disabilities	6%
Nowhere near enough to me is suitable to go camping	5%
I don't have access to transport to go camping	5%
Fear/worry about crime and anti-social behaviour	5%
Don't have enough knowledge about camping to feel confident to go	5%
Fear/worry about getting hurt or injured	4%



5

5.1 The value of camping and being in green and natural spaces

The findings show that both campers and non campers value spending time outside in green and natural spaces and, for the majority, do so either every day or more than twice a week, although more so amongst campers (75% vs 59%) (see section 4.1.1). The time spent outside by non campers corresponds with what is being observed at a general population level, with Natural England (2022) recently reporting in March 2022 (the most recent available statistics at the time of writing this report) that 61% of adults in England spent time outside in green and natural spaces in the last 14 days. It also highlights how campers not only spend more time outside than the survey's non campers, but also compared to England's general population.

When asked about the value of camping for their health and well-being, 93% of campers felt positive, which is a slight increase from what was reported in the earlier report (85%) (CCC, 2011). This likely drives their camping frequency, with many choosing to camp four-plus times a year, with four to seven days being the most popular duration (see section 4.3.6). While the camper survey respondents have been enjoying the benefits of camping for many years, with more than half reporting they have been camping for 30+ years, the increasing preference to camp as an alternative form of nature-based tourism for a quieter tourism setting where social distancing can be maintained and when shorter trips are more feasible (Aydin & Dogan, 2020; Craig, 2020), may have also positively impacted these perceptions. This would also support the increase in popularity - which is accelerating post Covid-19 crisis, particularly domestically (Euromonitor, 2020; Mintel, 2020; UNWTO, 2019) - that is being observed across all forms of tourism that involve being in nature, in quiet and less crowded settings, that are more sustainable, and improve one's well-being.

Natural England (2020) reported that participants who visit nature frequently tend to report higher levels of nature connectedness. Our findings support this. Both campers and non-campers scored highly on the Nature Connection Index compared to the UK national average, as reported by Richardson et al. (2019) (see section 4.1.3). However, despite non campers frequently spending time outside and placing high value on the outdoors for their health and well-being, those who camp still have a greater connection to nature. Further, campers who camped less frequently were just as connected to nature as those who camped more frequently. Therefore, camping frequency did not appear to impact nature connectedness. Similarly, a connection to nature was evident across all camping types, although there was a slightly higher level of nature connectedness amongst those who camped under canvas or in a campervan, than those who used other forms of camping (eg caravan, motorhome). Therefore, we can support the notion that camping positively influences nature connectedness. This is important as nature connectedness brings benefits for both humans and nature: it can lead to both improved mental well-being (both hedonic

and eudaimonic) (Pritchard et al., 2020) and increased proenvironmental behaviours (Richardson et al., 2020), and it is argued that nature connectedness is a basic psychological need (Baxter & Pelletier, 2019; Hurly & Walker, 2019).

5.1.1 The value of green and natural spaces post Covid-19

It is of note that, unlike England's general population whose time spent in green and natural spaces increased during Covid-19 to reach its current levels (Natural England, 2020), the survey respondents' time in these spaces stayed about the same, despite Covid-19, although more so for campers (45% vs 38%). This is likely attributed to the existing highvalue placed on being outside and in nature for their health and well-being before the pandemic, with respondents reporting similar positive feelings about this before (92% felt positive: 68% felt very positive and 24% felt somewhat positive) and during Covid-19 restrictions (89% felt positive, 71% felt very positive, and 18% felt somewhat positive). This indicates that, unlike England's general population who may have increased their appreciation of the value of the outdoors during Covid-19 and thus increased their visits, the respondents were able to maintain spending time outdoors and in nature during the pandemic. Further, for a third of respondents, they increased this time. Although, notably, more non-campers than campers reduced the time they spent outdoors during the pandemic (27% vs 17%), again highlighting the strong connection campers have with the outdoors for their health and well-being compared to non campers. When compared to national data, the survey respondents (89%) place higher value on green and natural spaces for their health and well-being than the English population, as only four in ten adults say it is important to their well-being during Covid-19 restrictions in 2020 (Natural England, 2022).

5.2 Camping motivations

The natural surroundings that camping provides are central to many motivational factors. It affords a sense of escapism - both physical and psychological - from the stresses of everyday life and urban living, fostering a sense of relaxation which has been found to promote health and psychological well-being (Dickinson et al., 2016; Egger et al., 2020; Garst et al., 2009). It enables campers to pursue a range of outdoor activities (see section 4.3.5), fuelling their sense of adventure, keeping them physically active and enabling them to live an outdoor lifestyle. This, in turn, would further support aspects of their psychological and eudaimonic well-being such as personal growth, autonomy, accomplishment, and environmental mastery, but also their hedonic well-being through the enjoyment of camping, being active outdoors, and a life worth living, which leads to positive emotions (eg happiness, joy, excitement, interest, pride, love, inspiration). Camping also facilitates the opportunity to spend time with friends and family, focus on high-quality interactions with others and create lasting memories of shared camping experiences (Hardy et al., 2012), thus enhancing relatedness (psychological well-being) and social well-being. Combined, these provide campers with a deep sense of happiness,



which is reflected in their key motivation to keep camping, and is a key tenet of subjective well-being. Indeed, the breadth of motivations endorsed by campers illustrates how camping has the potential to promote well-being across multiple dimensions, thus supporting campers' flourishing, mental health, and overall well-being (see section 4.2).

The motivations reported by campers also indicate the wide range of expected psychological and social benefits of camping, as noted in The Camping and Caravanning Club's earlier report (CCC, 2011). When compared with the benefits of camping previously reported, generating happy memories (97% vs 80%) and being with family (91% vs 79%) while camping is less important to the modern camper. However, camping to appreciate nature is equally important to past and present campers, with 93% agreeing to this statement in both studies. Similarly, feeling more relaxed (91.1%) and taking time out from everyday life (87.6%), which are key motivations for the campers in this study, relate to the key benefit of camping to recharge batteries (95%) and relieve stress (89%) reported 10 years previously (CCC, 2011). It is of note that previously 73% of campers said camping was a great way to make friends (CCC, 2011). By comparison, fewer contemporary campers rated spending quality time with friends (52.4%) and feeling more connected to others while camping (40.5%) as a motivation to camp. This is perhaps attributed to the large

proportion of our camper respondents (85%) preferring to camp with their partner than with friends, family members, or with a club or organised group (see 4.3.4). Whom campers choose to camp with was not collected in the earlier study, therefore, direct comparisons cannot be made.

5.3 The impact of camping on well-being

A key finding from the study is that campers, compared to non campers, are more likely to be flourishing, the most favourable end of the mental health spectrum indicating a strong coexistence of hedonic and eudaimonic wellbeing (see Section 4.2.2). Further, campers scored higher for flourishing (43.9%) than previously reported in population studies in the United States (17.2%) (Keyes, 2002) and The Netherlands (38.6%) (Santini et al., 2020). Comparisons cannot be made with UK population data, as this information is not available. However, this finding supports the assertion that camping is good for your mental health and well-being. Flourishing is a recognised concept central to international debates about health and mental health (Keyes, 2007), and seen as "the gold standard of measuring well-being" (Seligman, 2011, p.13). Therefore, this finding helps position camping as an activity that could be central to wider strategic national agendas for promoting the restorative benefits of the outdoors for well-being and improved mental health.
To further support this claim of the benefit of camping, campers also scored significantly higher than non campers across the MHC-SF subscales of psychological, emotional, and social well-being; on all ONS4 personal well-being questions; and reported considerably less stress (PSS). Further, campers scored more highly than non campers on Ryff's six dimensions of psychological well-being, particularly on environmental mastery and purpose in life. This, supporting the underpinning assertions that camping contributes to identity construction and the development of self-confidence, self-awareness, and interpersonal and practical skills within educational, leisure and tourism settings, as found by others (Fiennes et al., 2015; Houge MacKenzie & Hodge, 2020; Olivos & Clayton, 2017; Tong et al., 2020). Notably, those who camped more frequently also reported higher scores across all well-being measures than those who camped less frequently. Thus, the more one camps, the better their well-being and mental health.

A direct comparison with the well-being findings in the previous report (CCC, 2011) cannot be made, as the two surveys used different measures to capture the happiness and well-being of campers. As mentioned previously, in order to capture multiple dimensions of well-being, this current study used a range of validated measures of well-being – some of which simply did not exist or were not widely used 10 years ago. However, despite this, the overall findings of this study correspond well to those previously reported. For example:

- Campers are more satisfied with their life compared to non-campers (see 4.2.1 and 4.2.2)
- Campers are happier than non campers (see 4.2.1 and 4.2.2).
- Campers are less stressed than non campers (see 4.2.3)
- Campers are more social and their relations with others (family, friends, community, and society) are more positive than non campers (see 4.2.2 and 4.2.4). For example, campers have a stronger sense of belonging to a community and they generally feel that people are good.

Collectively, these findings offer a strong basis from which claims can be made that camping is an outdoor recreation and tourism activity that contributes to improved well-being and mental health.

For those who do not go camping, poor physical health or illness (18%), physical ability (17%), and poor mental health or well-being (9%) were a barrier for some survey respondents. This serves as a reminder that inclusive camping approaches must recognise barriers and adapt camping practices that promote a full spectrum of health and well-being benefits.

5.4 Camping on prescription and in the classroom

The majority of respondents (83%) felt positive about healthcare professionals prescribing spending time in nature instead of medication for a mental health issue or condition. While this question was not asked in the previous report, a related question asked respondents if they felt camping should be prescribed by the NHS and just 46% of campers and 12% of non-campers agreed to this (CCC, 2011). Similarly, just 59% of campers said that camping should be on the school curriculum in the earlier report. By comparison, in this present study, there was strong agreement (94%) that all children should have an opportunity to learn outdoors and camp as part of their formal education. This provides a helpful barometer 10 years on as to the public's current views and advocacy for greater access to camping and time outdoors as both education and healthcare solutions. Indicating that now, more than ever, has there been support for the rollout of national initiatives, such as Green Prescribing, to tackle the increase in children's and young people's poor mental health. This would support DEFRA's (2019) proposals that every child should spend a night under the stars, as well as camping as part of formal curriculum.

5.5 Participation in activities while camping

It is of note that 98% of camping respondents participate in outdoor activities while camping, with walking being the most prevalent, an activity which has been found to be a significant predictor of health and a predictor, albeit small, of nature connectedness (National Trust, 2020). The identification of camping as a clear pathway to physical activity (in particular walking) is an important finding, as physical activity in outdoor environments (Marselle et al., 2013), in comparison to both urban and indoor environments (Fruhauf et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2018; Loureiro & Veloso, 2014), is widely associated with increased well-being. Alongside this, woodland or forest environments were the most frequented type of green and natural space accessed while camping (82%), settings which have been found to further enhance well-being in other studies. For example, increased exposure to levels of tree canopy can positively impact levels of psychological distress (Astell-Burt & Feng, 2019), evident with emerging concepts such as 'measuring exposure-response' to green spaces (Saraev et al., 2020). Thus, the combination of camping with both physical activity and accessing different types of natural environments beyond the initial camping venue itself, could foster greater wellbeing and mental health benefits of camping.



Section 6: Conclusions and Future Research

Camping as a facilitator for improving well-being and mental health is still relatively under-researched. However, it has been found to be a valuable outdoor recreation and tourism activity providing important opportunities for improving psychological, social, and physical well-being through connecting with nature (eg Capaldi et al., 2015; Hassell et al., 2015; Jimenez, 2021); disconnecting from the stresses of everyday life (Brooker & Joppe, 2013; Capaldi et al., 2015; Dickinson et al., 2016; Egger et al., 2020; Rydstedt & Johnsen, 2019); socialising with others (e.g., Hardy et al., 2012; Hassell et al., 2015; Lonergan, 2021); and offering therapeutic benefits as part of structured educational and prescribed healthcare interventions (Cotton & Butselaar, 2013; Desai et al., 2014).

The findings of this research indicate that campers report higher levels of well-being than non campers, and that they are also more likely to be flourishing, a category given to those with optimal mental health (Keyes, 2006). Further, those who camp more frequently were significantly more likely to have higher levels of well-being and mental health. Campers also have a greater connection to nature than non campers, which is important, as not only does a connection to nature positively improve mental health and well-being (Pritchard et al., 2020), it can also increase pro-environmental behaviours (Richardson et al., 2020). Therefore, camping is a valuable mechanism for promoting well-being, mental health, and environmental sustainability.

The key motivations to camp also support the assertion that camping can improve well-being and mental health as the most commonly endorsed motivations are associated with psychological, physical, social, and emotional well-being. It is the perceived psychological (escapism, restoration, reduced stress), physical (pursuing outdoor activities, particularly walking) and social (spending time with partners, family and friends) benefits of camping, alongside being in nature that drive motivation and, presumably, camping behaviours. Combined, these can provide campers with a deep sense of happiness, which is a key motivation for camping, and which encompasses positive feelings about their lives right now and in general (subjective well-being), their broader sense of self and purpose (psychological well-being), and optimal mental health (flourishing).

Given the multitude of well-being benefits that can be enjoyed from camping, it is unsurprising that campers champion healthcare professionals prescribing time in nature instead of, or in addition to, medication, and the inclusion of camping in the curriculum. When taken into consideration with the reports of camping being a successful healthcare and education intervention (see Cotton & Butselaar, 2013; Desai et al., 2014), the findings of this study provide a strong foundation for the advocation of positioning camping within national health and education agendas, and the development of camping experiences beyond recreation and tourism that will have wider societal benefit. This is particularly pertinent now, as these experiences could counteract some of the negative impacts of Covid-19 on the nation's well-being and mental health, and contribute to building a flourishing and happy nation. Further, such experiences could potentially be more cost-effective than other traditional approaches which, post-Covid-19, would also be appealing to Government.

It is of note that the time campers spent in green and natural spaces did not change during the pandemic, as their existing appreciation of these spaces for their health and well-being



motivated them to maintain this time spent outdoors. Given that campers have higher levels of well-being compared to non campers (even those who participate in other outdoor recreation activities) and national populations, this suggests that if non campers can be converted to campers, their well-being may improve. It also poses the question of how providing children with camping experiences while in formal education can help foster camping behaviour into adulthood, thus promoting mental health and well-being benefits from positive lifestyle behaviours. This is an important health agenda issue as lifestyle behaviours are among the leading determinants of health outcomes (Katz et al., 2018; WHO, 2021).

The findings of this study point to several areas that merit further research, and these include the following:

- 1) Examining the psychological mechanisms that positively impact mental health and well-being whilst camping: Whilst the robust and widely adopted wellbeing scales used in this survey provide an indication of the respondents' well-being and levels of mental health, the fixed nature of these scales did not allow for contextualisation. Research that examines how people experience and develop different aspects of emotional, social, and psychological well-being while camping, and associated impacts, would provide a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship between camping and well-being. Further, in examining how camping can help people move out of languishing and into a flourishing state of well-being would also assist in knowing if and how camping can facilitate improved well-being for wider lifelong benefit.
- 2) Camping as a targeted mental health approach: As camping is seen as an acceptable alternative or addition for healthcare professionals to prescribe for a mental health need, this presents an opportunity for stronger advocacy for widening access to camping for improved mental health. A key aspect of this would be to better understand and address barriers to camping for those with poor mental health and mental health conditions, alongside examining the ways of effectively offering it as a pathway for social and green prescribing. There is also a need to develop a more strategic research agenda that examines how camping and other associated activities (eg outdoor adventure and outdoor learning activities) done whilst camping impact the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people. A part of this is to better understand how camping provision in schools can be best delivered to maximise these associated benefits at different stages of a child's education.
- 3) Camping to target inequality: The respondents of this survey are predominately white British. The nexus between ethnicity and camping is not evident in contemporary research literature, although an earlier study found camping to be a white/Caucasian activity (Brooker & Joppe, 2013). This is perhaps not surprising, as participants of outdoor activities in general are not typically ethnically diverse and it is well documented that people from minority ethnic groups spend less time in green spaces compared to white people due to a range

of barriers (CPRE, 2021; DEFRA, 2019; Natural England, 2019). Further, some respondents reported that their physical health and abilities posed a barrier to camping. Understanding perceptions of physical capabilities required for camping and how these can be addressed through camping options, information, and facilities would help to alleviate these concerns and improve accessibility. Undertaking more research across these collective areas, would not only fill a significant gap in knowledge concerning inclusion in camping, but the findings could lead to improved access to camping and the natural environment for diverse communities within the UK.

4) Camping to improve sustainability: Considering the global impetus to safeguard the natural environment and promote sustainable forms of tourism, the relationship between being connected to nature through camping and pro-environmental behaviour at home and on holiday is worthy of exploration. Especially as the nature connectedness of the UK population is below levels required for pro-environmental attitudes and behaviours (Richardson et al., 2019), yet campers are much higher than this national average and they may have stronger behavioural levels. The findings of this work could inform national pathways to improve human-nature relationships, increase nature connectedness, advance pro-environmental behaviours, and contribute to the nation's sustainability agenda.

The findings of The Outjoyment Report extends current understanding of why spending time outdoors can be good for us, giving specific attention to the complexity of wellbeing, and helps us to consider how we can collectively aspire and work towards a more flourishing society.

■ Footnote – Camping and Caravanning Club response

to point 3: The Club recognises more can be done to reach out to a more diverse audience and ensure the organisation is making people from all backgrounds feel accepted and welcomed. Early in 2022 we joined seven of the UK's leading walking, climbing and outdoor leisure organisations on the research piece 'Your Movement Matters', to better understand participation in these activities as well as the key barriers and enablers. All partners agreed commitments to improve diversity within the sector, and will use the findings to support diversity and inclusion strategies. We are also working with a dedicated Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (ED&I) consultant to carry out an in-depth review that will help establish a baseline to identify which areas of diversity need attention. We plan to engage with diverse communities, run focus groups with members and non-members, and audit our existing policies, practices and external communications to ultimately embed ED&I into our culture.

Section 7: References

- Adamovich, Adamovich, V., Nadda, V., Kot, M., & ul HAQUE, A. (2021). Camping Vs. Glamping Tourism: Providers' Perspective in the United Kingdom. Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism, 12(6), 1431-1441.
- Ahn, C. S., & Lee, M. S. W. (2015). Adventure campers, fairy tale glampers, and authenticity. In 6th Advances in Tourism Marketing Conference, Joensuu, Finland.
- Alberts, E. C. (2014). Camp out, green style: Sustainable camping and caravanning. *Solar Caravans and Eco Camping*, 50-52.
- Alkan, Ö. (2021). Camp and Caravan Tourism. In V. Krystev, S. Çelik Uguz, R, Efe & E. Kapluhan (Eds.), *Tourism Studies and Social Sciences*, (pp.239-253). St. Kliment Ohridski University Press, Sofia.
- Annerstedt, M., & Währborg, P. (2011). Nature-assisted therapy: Systematic review of controlled and observational studies. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 39(4), 371–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494810396400
- Andre, E. K., Williams, N., Schwartz, F., & Bullard, C. (2017). Benefits of campus outdoor recreation programs: A review of the literature. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 9(1), 15-25. https://doi.org/10.18666/JOREL-2017-V9-I1-7491
- Analytis, P., Warren, N., & Ponsford, J. (2021) Supporting children and young people with an acquired brain injury (ABI) and their siblings: The experience of a camp for families with a child with an ABI. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, *31*(5), 797-813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2020.1731556</u>
- Arieli, M., Beker, J., & Kashti, Y. (2001). Residential group care as a socializing environment: Toward a broader perspective. *Child and Youth Care Forum*, 30(6), 403-414.
- Astell-Burt, T. & Feng, X. (2019). Association of Urban Green Space with Mental Health and General Health among Adults in Australia. JAMA Network Open, 2(7).

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8209

- Auto Camper Service International (ACSI) Publishing (2019). So campt Europa. Eine Befragung zu den Gemeinsamkeiten und Unterschieden zwischen Campern verschiedener Nationalitäten. ACSI https://cdn.acsi.eu/5/c/d/b/5cdbf1db315f9.pdf?aff=9884&utm_ referrer=www.eurocampings.de
- Aydin, B., & Doğan, M. (2020). Evaluation of Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Touristic Consumption Behavior and Tourism in Turkey. *Journal of Theory and Practice in Marketing*, 6(1), 93-115.
- Baxter, D.E, & Pelletier, L.G. (2019). Is nature relatedness a basic human psychological need? A critical examination of the extant literature. *Canadian Psychology*, 60(1), 21-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000145</u>
- Beker, J. (2001). Back to the future: Effective residential group care and treatment for children and youth and the Fritz Redl legacy. *Child and Youth Care Forum 30*(6), 443-455. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015329501206
- Békési, A., Török, S., Kökönyei, G., Bokrétás, I., Szentes, A., & Telepóczki, G. (2011). Health-related quality of life changes of children and adolescents with chronic disease after participation in therapeutic recreation camping program. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 9(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-9-43</u>
- Berto, R. (2014). The Role of Nature in Coping with Psycho-Physiological Stress: A Literature Review on Restorativeness. Behavioural Sciences, 4, 394–409, <u>https://doi:10.3390/bs4040394</u>
- Bettmann, J. E., & Tucker, A. R. (2011). Shifts in attachment relationships: A study of adolescents in wilderness treatment. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 40(6), 499-519.
- Bigné, E., & Decrop, A. (2019). Paradoxes of Postmodern Tourists and Innovation in Tourism Marketing: Innovation and Sustainability. In E., Fayos-Solà, & C., Cooper (Eds.), *The Future of Tourism: Innovation and Sustainability* (pp.131-154). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-89941-1_7</u>
- Bilim, Y., & Özer, Ö. (2021). No "Over", Yes "Minimal"! Camp and Caravan Tourism. Anais Brasileiros de Estudos Turísticos-ABET, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5771039</u>
- Blichfeldt, B. S., & Mikkelsen, M. (2013). Vacability and sociability as touristic attraction. *Tourist Studies*, 13(3), 235-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468797613498160</u>
- Blichfeldt, B. S., & Mikkelsen, M. (2016). Camping tourism. *Encyclopedia* of tourism (pp. 1-2). Springer Publishing Company.

- Boniface, M. (2006). The meaning of adventurous activities for 'women in the outdoors'. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 6(1), 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729670685200711
- Birdir K., Unur K. & Dalgıç A. (2015). Türkiye ve Dünya'da Kamping ve Yeni Bir Turistik Ürün Olarak 'Glamping'. 1. Eurisia International Tourism Congress: Current Issues, Trends and Indicators (EITOC-2015), 28(30), 168-177.
- Bowen, D.J., & Neill J.T. (2013). A meta-analysis of adventure therapy outcomes and moderators. *Open Psychol Journal*, 6, 28–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1874350120130802001</u>
- Bowler, D. E., Knight, T. M., & Pullin, A. S. (2009). The value of contact with nature for health promotion: how the evidence has been reviewed. Centre for evidence-based conservation. School of the Environment and Natural Centre for Evidence-Based Conservation.
- Brooker, E., & Joppe, M. (2013). Trends in camping and outdoor hospitality—An international review. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation* and Tourism, 3-4, 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2013.04.005</u>
- Brooker, E., & Joppe, M. (2014). A critical review of camping research and direction for future studies. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 20(4), 335-351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1356766714532464</u>
- Buldur, S., Bursal, M., Erik, N. Y., & Yucel, E. (2020). The impact of an outdoor education project on middle school students' perceptions and awareness of the renewable energy. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *134*, 110364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110364</u>
- Caldicott, R., Scherrer, P., & Jenkins, J. (2014). Freedom camping in Australia: current status, key stakeholders and political debate. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*(4), 417-442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2014.969751</u>
- Camping and Caravanning Club (CCC) (2011). Real richness. http://www.realrichness.co.uk
- The Camping and Caravanning Club (2022): Our history and heritage: The largest Club for all forms of camping, experts in the field for over 120 years. <u>https://www.campingandcaravanningclub.co.uk/about-us/club-history/</u>
- Capaldi, C. A., Passmore, H.-A., Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., & Dopko, R. L. (2015). Flourishing in nature: A review of the benefits of connecting with nature and its application as a wellbeing intervention. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 5(4), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v5i4.449</u>
- Clatworthy, J., Hinds, J., & Camic, P. M. (2013). Gardening as a mental health intervention: a review. *Mental Health Review Journal.* 18(4), 214-225. https://doi.org/10.1108/MHRJ-02-2013-0007
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24*, 385–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404
- Collins, D., Kearns, R., Bates, L. & Serjeant, E. (2018). Police Power and Fettered Freedom: Regulating Coastal Freedom Camping in New Zealand. *Social and Cultural Geography*, *19*(7), 894-913. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649365.2017.1323342

Cooley, S.J., Jones, C.R., Kurtz, A., & Robertson, N. (2020). 'Into the Wild': A meta-synthesis of talking therapy in natural outdoor spaces. *Clinical Psychological Review, 77*, 101841. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101841</u>

- Compton, W. C. (2005). Introduction to Positive Psychology. Thomson Wadsworth.
- Cotton, S., & Butselaar, F. (2013). Outdoor adventure camps for people with mental illness. *Australasian Psychiatry, 21*(4), 352-358. https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856213492351

Cottrell, J. R., & Cottrell, S. P. (2020). Outdoor skills education: what are the benefits for health, learning and lifestyle? *World Leisure Journal*, 62(3), 219-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2020.1798051</u>

- Counts, D., & Counts, D. (2004). Over the next hill: An ethnography of RVing seniors in North America (2nd Ed.). Broadview Press.
- Cox, D. T. C., Shanahan, D. F., Hudson, H. L., Fuller, R. A., Anderson, K., Hancock, S., & Gaston, K. J. (2017). Doses of nearby nature simultaneously associated with multiple health benefits. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(2), 172. https://doi:10.3390/ijerph14020172
- CPRE The Countryside Charity (2021). Access to nature in the English countryside. https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/ August-2021_Access-to-nature-in-the-English-countryside_ research-overview.pdf

- Craig, C. A. (2020). Camping, glamping, and coronavirus in the United States. Annals of Tourism Research, 89, 103071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2020.103071
- Department for Environment, Food & Affairs (DEFRA) (2018). A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment. HM Government. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-yearenvironment-plan.pdf
- Department for Environment, Food & Affairs (DEFRA) (2019). Landscapes Review: National Parks and AONBs. HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/designatedlandscapes-national-parks-and-aonbs-2018-review/
- Desai, P. P., Sutton, L. J., Staley, M. D., & Hannon, D. W. (2014). A qualitative study exploring the psychosocial value of weekend camping experiences for children and adolescents with complex heart defects. *Child Care, Health and Development, 40*(4), 553-561. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12056

Dickinson, J. E., Hibbert, J. F., & Filimonau, V. (2016). Mobile technology and the tourist experience:(Dis) connection at the campsite. *Tourism management, 57*, 193-201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2016.06.005

Diener, E. (2006). Guidelines for national indicators of subjective well-being and ill-being. *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being, 7*(4), 397-404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-006-9000-y

- Disabato, D. J., Goodman, F. R., Kashdan, T. B., Short, J. L., & Jarden, A. (2016). Different types of well-being? A cross-cultural examination of hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(5), 471-482.
- Doğantan, E., Gülenç, S., & Kozak, N. (2017). The evolution and transformation of camping and coastal campgrounds in Antalya, Turkey. *Turizam: Međunarodni Znanstveno-Stručni Časopis, 65*(1), 75-85.

Doran, A. (2016). Empowerment and women in adventure tourism: a negotiated journey. *Journal of Sport and Tourism, 20*(1), 57-80. http://doi.org/10.1080/14775085.2016.1176594

Doran, A., Schofield, P. & Low, T. (2018). Women's mountaineering tourism: an empirical investigation of its theoretical constraint dimensions. *Leisure Studies*, 37(4), 396-410. http://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2018.1452283

Doran, A., Schofield, P. & Low, T. (2020). Women's mountaineering: accessing participation benefits through strategies to negotiate constraints. *Leisure Studies*, 1-15. http://doi.org/10.1080/026143672020.1763439

Egger, I., Lei, S. I., & Wassler, P. (2020). Digital free tourism–An exploratory study of tourist motivations. *Tourism Management, 79*, 104098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2020.104098</u>

Ellis, S. (2010). Camping and caravanning: why so popular and is it sustainable?. *Tourism Insights, January*.

Erol, T. A. Ş., & Gülen, S. (2019). Analysis of the influence of outdoor education activities on seventh grade students. *Participatory Educational Research*, 6(2), 122-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.17275/per.19.176.2</u>

Euromonitor International (2020). *Travel 2040: Sustainability* and digital transformation as recovery drivers. <u>https://</u> go.euromonitor.com/wb-video-travel-2020-travel-2040. <u>html?utm_campaign=WB_20_08_18_REC_Travel_2040&utm_</u> medium=Email&utm_source=0_Auto-Response_Email

- Eurostat (2020a). Data-Explorer: Nights spent at tourist accommodation establishments. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ TOUR_OCC_NINAT_custom_914923/default/table?lang=en
- Eurostat (2020b). Data-Explorer: Number of establishments, bedrooms and bed-places. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/product?code=TOUR_</u> <u>CAP_NAT&mode=view</u>

Fendt, L. S., & Wilson, E. (2012). 'I just push through the barriers because I live for surfing': How women negotiate their constraints to surf tourism. Annals of Leisure Research, 15(1), 4-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2012.670960</u>

Fernee, C. R., Gabrielsen, L. E., Andersen, A. J., & Mesel, T. (2017). Unpacking the black box of wilderness therapy: A realist synthesis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(1), 114–129. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316655776

Fiennes, C., Oliver, E., Dickson, K., Escobar, D., Romans, A., & Oliver, S. (2015). The Existing Evidence-Base about the Effectiveness of Outdoor Learning. Giving Evidence & UCL Institute of Education, EPPI-Centre. <u>https://www.sapoe.org.uk/wp-content/</u> uploads/2017/08/outdoor-learning-giving-evidence-revised-finalreport-nov-2015-etc-v21.pdf

Forgeard, M. J. C., Jayawickreme, E., Kern, M. L., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2011). Doing the right thing: Measuring wellbeing for public policy. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 1(1),79-106.

Frühauf, A., Niedermeier, M., Elliott, L. R., Ledochowski, L., Marksteiner, J., & Kopp, M. (2016). Acute effects of outdoor physical activity on affect and psychological well-being in depressed patients. A preliminary study. *Mental Health and Physical Activity, 10*, 4-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2016.02.002

Fullam, J., Hunt, H., Lovell, R., Husk, K., Byng, R., Richards, D., Bloomfield, Warber,W., Tarrant, M., Lloyd, J., Orr, N., Burns, L., & Garside, R (2021). A handbook for Nature on Prescription to promote mental health. Volume 1, Version 1. University of Exeter.

Gass, M. A., Gillis, H. L., & Russell, K. C. (2012). Adventure therapy: Theory, research, and practice. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203136768

Garst, B. A., Williams, D. R., & Roggenbuck, J. W. (2009). Exploring early twenty-first century developed forest camping experiences and meanings. *Leisure Sciences*, 32(1), 90-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400903430905</u> 490400903430905"https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400903430905

Griffin, B. (2019). Cycle camping in Victorian and Edwardian Ireland. Irish Studies Review, 27(3), 377-401. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670882.2019.1587253

Hansen-Ketchum, P. A., & Halpenny, E. A. (2011). Engaging with nature to promote health: bridging research silos to examine the evidence. *Health Promotion International*, 26(1), 100-108. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daq053

Hardy, A., Hanson, D., & Gretzel, U. (2012). Online representations of RVing neo-tribes in the USA and Australia. *Journal of Tourism and Cultural Change*, *10*(3), 219-232.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14766825.2012.667415 Harper, N. J. (2017). Wilderness therapy, therapeutic camping and adventure education in child and youth care literature: A scoping review. *Children and Youth Services Review, 83*, 68-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.10.030

Harper, N. J., Fernee, C. R., & Gabrielsen, L. E. (2021). Nature's Role in Outdoor Therapies: An Umbrella Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(10), 5117. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105117</u>

Hassell, S., Moore, S. A., & Macbeth, J. (2015). Exploring the motivations, experiences and meanings of camping in national parks. *Leisure Sciences, 37*(3), 269-287. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2014.995325

Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D., De Neve, J.-E., Aknin, L. B., & Wang, S. (Eds.) (2022), *World Happiness Report 2022*. New York: Sustainable Development Solutions Network. https://worldhappiness.report/ed/2022/

Henderson, K.A., Scanlin, M.M., Whitaker, L.S., Thurber, C., Marsh, P., Burkhardt, M. & Bialeschki, M.D. (2005). *Intentionality and youth development through camp experiences*. Canadian Congress on Leisure Research. 11th, Nanaimo, British Columbia.

Hines, R., Davidson, C., Zwart, R., & Ewert, A. (2019). Exploring motivations and constraints of minority participation: college outdoor adventure programs. *Research in Outdoor Education*, 17, 59-81.

Houge Mackenzie, S., & Hodge, K. (2020). Adventure recreation and subjective well-being: A conceptual framework. *Leisure Studies*, 39(1), 26-40. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2019.1577478

Hrgović, A-M.V., Cvelić-Bonifačić, J. & Licul, I. (2018). Glamping – New Outdoor Accommodation. *Ekonomska misao I praksa, 2*7(2), 621-639. <u>https://hrcak.srce.hr/213326</u>

Hurly, J., & Walker, G.J. (2019). Nature in our lives: examining the human need for nature relatedness as a basic psychological need. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 50(4), 290–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2019.1578939

Jennings, V., & Bamkole, O. (2019). The relationship between social cohesion and urban green space: An avenue for health promotion. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(3), 452. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph1603045</u>2

Jimenez, M. P., DeVille, N. V., Elliott, E. G., Schiff, J. E., Wilt, G. E., Hart, J. E., & James, P. (2021). Associations between Nature Exposure and Health: A Review of the Evidence. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(9), 4790. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094790</u>

Jirásek, I., Roberson, D. N., & Jirásková, M. (2017). The impact of

families camping together: Opportunities for personal and social development. *Leisure Sciences*, *39*(1), 79-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2015.1136251

- Joshanloo, M., Capone, V., Petrillo, G., & Caso, D. (2017). Discriminant validity of hedonic, social, and psychological well-being in two Italian samples. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 109, 23-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.12.036</u>
- Kahneman, D., & Krueger, A. B. (2006). Developments in the measurement of subjective well-being. *Journal of Economic Perspectives, 20*(1), 3-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/089533006776526030</u>
- Kambic, K. (2018). Heading out: a history of American camping. Journal of Tourism History, 10(3), 298-300. https://doi.org/10.1080/1755182X.2018.1546455
- Katz, D. L., Frates, E.P., Bonnet, J.P., Gupta, S. K., Vartiainen, E., & Carmona, R. H. (2018). Lifestyle as Medicine: The Case for a True Health Initiative. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(6), 1452-1458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117705949</u>
- Keams, R., Collins, D., & Bates, L. (2017). "It's freedom!": examining the motivations and experiences of coastal freedom campers in New Zealand. *Leisure Studies*, 36(3), 395-408. https://doi.org/10.1080/026143672016.1141976
- Kelly P., Williamson, C., Niven A. G., Hunter, R., Mutrie, N., & Richards, J. (2018). Walking on sunshine: scoping review of the evidence for walking and mental health. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52(12), 800–6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098827</u>
- Keyes, C. L. M., (2002). The mental health continuum: From languishing to flourishing in life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 43(2), 207-222. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3090197</u>
- Keyes, C.L.M. (2006). Mental health in adolescence: Is America's youth flourishing? *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *76*(3), 395–402. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.76.3.395
- Keyes, C. L. M., (2007). Promoting and Protecting Mental Health as Flourishing: A Complementary Strategy for Improving National Mental Health. *American Psychologist*, 62(2), 95-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.2.95</u>
- Kristensen, M. S., Arvidsen, J., Elmose-Østerlund, K., & Iversen, E. B. (2021). Motives for shelter camping. A survey-study on motivational differences across group composition and experience level. *Journal* of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 33, 100333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2020.100333
- Lashley, C. (2015). Researching snails on holiday: An agenda for caravanning and caravaners? *Research in Hospitality Management*, 5(2), 115-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/22243534.2015.11828336</u>
- Lee, W. S., Lee, J, K., & Moon, J. (2019). Influential attributes for the selection of luxury camping: A mixed-logit method. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 40, 88-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2019.05.004
- Little, D. (2002). Women and adventure recreation: Reconstructing leisure constraints and adventure experiences to negotiate continuing participation. *Journal of Leisure Research, 34*, 157–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2002.11949967
- Lin, C. H., & Chuang, Y. W. (2021). A Study of Participation Motivation, Experience and Satisfaction in Camping Tourists. Open Journal of Applied Sciences, 11(2), 190-201. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojapps.2021.112013

Lonergan, A. (2021). Host Community Perceptions of Freedom Camping Impacts: A Social Exchange Theory Perspective [Master's dissertation, Open Access Victoria University of Wellington] Te Herenga Waka]. <u>https://openaccess.wgtn.ac.nz/articles/ thesis/HOST_COMMUNITY_PERCEPTIONS_OF_FREEDOM_ CAMPING_IMPACTS_A_SOCIAL_EXCHANGE_THEORY_ PERSPECTIVE/14033225</u>

Loureiro, A., & Veloso, T. J. (2014). Outdoor exercise, well-being and connectedness to nature. *Psico*, *45*(3), 299-304. https://doi.org/10.15448/1980-8623.2014.3.19180

Lovell, R., Depledge, M., & Maxwell, S. (2018). *Health and the natural environment: A review of evidence, policy, practice and opportunities for the future*. University of Exeter and European Centre for Environment & Human Health. http://hdl.handle.net/10871/36923

Low, T., Doran, A. & Miller, M. (2020). Women's outdoor adventure experiences on Instagram: exploring user-generated content. *Annals of Leisure Research*. http://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2020.1815068

Maller, C., Townsend, M., Pryor, A., Brown, P., & St Leger, L. (2006).

Healthy nature healthy people: contact with nature as an upstream health promotion intervention for populations. *Health Promotion International*, *21*(1), 45-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dai032</u>

Mann, J., Gray, T., Truong, S., Sahlberg, P., Bentsen, P., Passy, R., Ho, S., Ward, K., & Cowper, R. (2021). A systematic review protocol to identify the key benefits and efficacy of nature-based learning in outdoor educational settings. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(3), 1199. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18031199</u>

Marselle, M. R., Irvine, K. N., & Warber, S. L. (2013). Walking for wellbeing: are group walks in certain types of natural environments better for well-being than group walks in urban environments? International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 10(11), 5603-5628. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115603</u>

Martela, F., & Ryan, R. M. (2016). The benefits of benevolence: Basic psychological needs, beneficence, and the enhancement of wellbeing. *Journal of Personality, 84*(6), 750-764. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12215

Martin, L., White, M. P., Hunt, A., Richardson, M., Pahl, S., & Burt, J. (2020). Nature contact, nature connectedness and associations with health, wellbeing and pro-environmental behaviours. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *68*, 101389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101389

McCurdy, L. E., Winterbottom, K. E., Mehta, S. S., & Roberts, J. R. (2010). Using nature and outdoor activity to improve children's health. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care, 40*(5), 102–117.

Menzies, A., Mazan, C., Borisoff, J. F., Mattie, J. L., & Mortenson, W. B. (2021). Outdoor recreation among wheeled mobility users: perceived barriers and facilitators. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*, 16(4), 384-390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17483107.2019.1710772</u>

Mikulić J., Prebežac, D., Šerić, M., Krešić, D. (2017). Campsite choice and the camping tourism experience: Investigating decisive campsite attributes using relevance-determinance analysis. *Tourism Management*, 59, 226-233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2016.07.020

Miletić, V., Rajković, Ž., & Branković, D. (2018). Causes of negative attitudes of younger elementary school students towards campings. Facta Universitatis: *Series Physical Education and Sport*, *16*(3), 621-630.

Mintel (2020). Touring and adventure holidays: Inc impact of COVID-19 – UK – May 2020. https://reports.mintel.com/display/989578/?from Search=%3Ffreetext%3 Dtouring%2520and%2520adventure% 2520holidays

Mjøsund, N.H. (2021). A Salutogenic Mental Health Model: Flourishing as a Metaphor for Good Mental Health. In G, Haugan, & M, Eriksson, M. (Eds.), Health Promotion in Health Care – Vital Theories and Research (pp.145-168). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-63135-2_5</u>

Netter Stranger St

Morrow, R. (2013). A Study to Explore the Lived Experience of Camping and Associated Effects of Escapism: A Green Exercise Approach. [Master's dissertation, University of Huddersfield]. http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/20328/

Morrow, R., Rodriguez, A., & King, N. (2014). Camping: a tool for relationship maintenance? *Therapeutic Communities: The International Journal of Therapeutic Communities, 2*(35), 48-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TC-12-2013-0034</u>

Morrow, R., Rodriguez, A., & King, N. (2017). Back to basics: can unstructured camping promote wellbeing? *Therapeutic Communities: The International Journal of Therapeutic Communities, 38*(1), 49-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TC-08-2016-0016</u>

Musikanski, L., & Pollry, C. (2016). Life, Liberty, and the Pursuit of Happiness: Measuring What Matters. *Journal of Social Change*, 8(1), 48–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2016.08.105</u>

Natural England (2016). Connection to Nature: evidence briefing (EIN015). http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/ publication/4792791243161600

Natural England (2018). Opening access to the countryside. https://naturalengland.blog.gov.uk/2018/10/05/opening-access-tothe-countryside/

Natural England (2019a). Monitor and Engagement with the Natural

Environment – The national survey on people and the natural environment. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/</u> <u>uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/828552/Monitor_</u> <u>Engagement_Natural_Environment_2018_2019_v2.pdf</u>

- Natural England (2019b). Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment. Children and Young People Report. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/828838/Monitor_of_ Engagement_with_the_Natural_Environment_MENE_Childrens_ Report_2018-2019_rev.pdf
- Natural England (2020). Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment A summary report on nature connectedness among adults and children in England Analyses of relationships with wellbeing and pro-environmental behaviours. <u>http://publications.</u> <u>naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6005041314136064</u>
- Natural England (2021). The People and Nature Survey for England: Monthly interim indicators for July 2020 (Experimental Statistics). Updated 23 March 2021. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/ the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interimindicators-for-july-2020-experimental-statistics/the-people-andnature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-july-2020-experimental-statistics
- Natural England (2022). The people and nature survey for England: Monthly indicators for March 2022 (Official Statistics). Published 18 May, 2022. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-peopleand-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-indicators-for-march-2022-official-statistics/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-englandmonthly-indicators-for-march-2022-official-statistics
- National Health Service (NHS) (2022). Green social prescribing. https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/ green-social-prescribing/
- National Trust (2020). Noticing Nature: The first report in the Everyone Needs Nature series. National Trust
- Nava, L., Carr, N., Miller, A., & Coetzee, W. (2022). Redefining 'freedom camping' in New Zealand: the role of the Rugby World Cup. Annals of Leisure Research, 25(1), 138-157. https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2020.1818591
- Norton, C. L., Tucker, A., Russell, K. C., Bettmann, J. E., Gass, M. A., Gillis, H. L., & Behrens, E. (2014). Adventure therapy with youth. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 37(1), 46-59. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825913518895
- Office of National Statistics (ONS) (2021). Personal Well-being Frequently asked questions. Office for National Statistics. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/ wellbeing/methodologies/personalwellbeingfrequentlyaskedquestio ns#how-does-ons-measure-personal-well-being
- Office of National Statistics (ONS) (2022). Personal well-being in the UK, quarterly: April 2011 to September 2021. Released April, 2022. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/ wellbeing/bulletins/personalwellbeingintheukquarterly/ april2011toseptember2021
- Okumus, F., Köseoglu, M.A., Putra, E.D., Yildiz, M. & Dogan, I.C. (2019). Conceptual Structure of Lodging context Studies: 1990-2016. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 43(2), 210-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1096348018765321</u>
- Olivos, P., & Clayton, S. (2017). Self, nature and well-being: Sense of connectedness and environmental identity for quality of life. In G. Fluery-Bahi, E. Pol, & Navarro, O. (Eds.), Handbook of environmental psychology and quality of life research (pp. 107-126). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31416-7_6</u>
- Outdoor Foundation (2012). Special report on camping. A look back and the year ahead. <u>https://outdoorindustry.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2017/05/2011-Camping-Report-final.pdf</u>
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS Survival Manual (6th Edition). McGraw Hill Education.
- Paquette, J., & Vitaro, F. (2014). Wilderness therapy, interpersonal skills and accomplishment motivation: impact analysis on antisocial behavior and socio-professional status. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, *31*(3), 230-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0886571X.2014.944024</u>
- Passarelli, A., Hall, E., & Anderson, M. (2010). A strengths-based approach to outdoor and adventure education: Possibilities for personal growth. *Journal of Experiential Education*, *33*(2), 120-135. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382591003300203
- Passy, R., Bentsen, P., Gray, T., & Ho, S. (2019). Integrating outdoor learning into the curriculum: an exploration in four nations.

Curriculum Perspectives, 39(1), 73-78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41297-019-00070-8

- Paul Hamlyn Foundation (2011). Evaluation of Learning Away Year 1: Report Case Studies. Coventry: Centre for the Use of Research and Evidence in Education (CUREE). https://www.phf.org.uk/ publications/learning-away-final-evaluation-full-report/
- Pearson, D. G., & Craig, T. (2014). The great outdoors? Exploring the mental health benefits of natural environments. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, 1178. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.0117</u>8
- Pirchio, S., Passiatore, Y., Panno, A., Cipparone, M., & Carrus, G. (2021). The effects of contact with nature during outdoor environmental education on students' wellbeing, connectedness to nature and pro-sociality. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 648458. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.648458</u>
- Preston-Whyte, R (2004). The beach as a liminal space. In: A. Lew, M.C. Hall, A. M. Williams (Eds.), *A Companion to Tourism* (pp. 349–359). Blackwell. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470752272.ch28</u>
- Pritchard, A., Richardson, M., Sheffield, D., & McEwan (2020). The Relationship Between Nature Connectedness and Eudaimonic Well-Being: A Meta-analysis. *Journal of Happiness Studies, 21*, 1145–1167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00118-6
- Public Health England (2020). *Improving access to greenspace A new review for 2020*. London: Public Health England. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904439/Improving_access_ to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
- Quay, J. (2016). Outdoor education and school curriculum distinctiveness: More than content, more than process. Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education, 19(2), 42-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03400993
- Ram, Y., & Hall, C. M. (2020). The Camp not Taken: Analysis of Preferences and Barriers Among Frequent, Occasional and Noncampers. *Leisure Sciences*, 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2020.1731885
- Rantala, O., & Varley, P. (2019). Wild camping and the weight of tourism. *Tourist Studies*, 19(3), 295-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468797619832308</u>
- Rantala, O., & Puhakka, R. (2020). Engaging with nature: Nature affords well-being for families and young people in Finland. *Children's Geographies*, 18(4), 490-503. https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2019.1685076
- Ray, H., & Jakubec, S. L. (2014). Nature-based experiences and health of cancer survivors. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, 20(4), 188-192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2014.07.005
- Richards, K., Hardie, A., & Anderson, N. (2020). Outdoor mental health interventions and outdoor therapies: A statement of good practice. Institute for Outdoor Learning: Cumbria. <u>https://www.outdoorlearning.org/Good-Practice/Good-Practice/Outdoor-Mental-Health</u>
- Richardson, M., Hunt, A., Hinds, J., Bragg, R., Fido, D., Petronzi, D., Barbett, L., Clitherow, T., & White, M. (2019). A measure of nature connectedness for children and adults: validation, performance, and insights. Sustainability, 11(12), 3250. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123250
- Richardson, M., Dobson, J., Abson, D. J., Lumber, R., Hunt, A., Young, R., & Moorhouse, B. (2020). Applying the pathways to nature connectedness at a societal scale: a leverage points perspective. *Ecosystems and People*, *16*(1), 387-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/26395916.2020.1844296</u>
- Rogerson, C. M., & Rogerson, J. M. (2020). Camping tourism: a review of recent international scholarship. *Geo Journal of Tourism & Geosites*, 28(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.30892/gtg.28127-474</u>
- Russell, K. (2021). What is wilderness therapy? Journal of Experiential Education, 24(2), 70-79. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590102400203
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1999.1020</u>
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2001). On happiness and human potentials: A review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*(1), 141-166. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- Rydstedt, L., W., & Johnsen, S. A. K. (2019). Towards an integration of recovery and restoration theories. *Heliyon*, 5(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02023</u>
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well- being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 57*, 1069–1081.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069

- Ryff, C. D., Almeida, D. M., Ayanian, J. S., Carr, D. S., Clea ry, P. D., Coe, C., Williams, D. (2007). National Survey of Midlife Development in the United States (MIDUS II), 2004-2006: Documentation of the Psychosocial Constructs and Composite Variables in MIDUS II Project 1. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research.
- Ryff, C. D., & Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological wellbeing revisited. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(4), 719-727. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.694.719</u>
- Saraev, V., O'Brien, L., Valatin, G., Atkinson, M., & Bursnell, M. (2020). Scoping Study on Valuing Mental Health Benefits of Forests. Forestry Commission. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.13173.60645</u>
- Sakačova, L. (2013). Glamping–Nature served on silver platter [Master's thesis, Aalborg University]. https://projekter.aau.dk/projekter/files/76860450/Glamping.pdf
- Samuels, J., Keenan, J., & Jolly, A. (2022). A qualitative investigation of the impact that therapeutic recreational camps have on the psychological wellbeing of siblings of individuals with health conditions. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 48* (2), 259-268. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12926
- Santini, Z. I., Torres-Sahli, M., Hinrichsen, C., Meilstrup, C., Madsen, K. R., Rayce, S. B., Baker, M. M., Ten Have, M., Schotanus-Dijkstra, M., & Koushede, V. (2020). Measuring positive mental health and flourishing in Denmark: validation of the mental health continuumshort form (MHC-SF) and cross-cultural comparison across three countries. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *18*(1), 297. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01546-2
- Schouten, J. W., McAlexander, J. H., & Koenig, H. F. (2007). Transcendent customer experience and brand community. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 35(3), 357-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-007-0034-4</u>
- Schwartz, A., & Corkery, M. R. (2011). Barriers to participation among underrepresented populations in outdoor programs. *Recreational Sports Journal*, 35(2), 130-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/rsj.35.2.130</u>
- Schwanen, T., & Atkinson, S. (2015). Geographies of wellbeing: an introduction. *The Geographical Journal, 181*(2), 98-101. https://doi.org/10.1111/geoj.12132
- Seligman, M. (2011). Flourish. New York: Free Press.
- Seligman, M. (2018). PERMA and the building blocks of well-being. The Journal of Positive Psychology, 13(4), 333-335. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2018.1437466
- Seligman, M., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive Psychology: An introduction. American Psychologist, 55(1), 5-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.551.5</u>
- Snyder, J. A., & Evans, S. Z. (2017). Fear of crime while camping: examining perceptions of risk, safety precautions, and victimization effects. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 30(3), 307-319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1478601X.2017.1293534</u>
- Sommer, K. (2020). Holidays at home Camping and glamping as a part of domestic tourism: An overview and analysis of camping (and in particular luxury camping) as an alternative form of domestic tourism in the time of the coronavirus. IUBH Discussion Papers - Tourismus & Hospitality, 6/2020, IU International University of Applied Sciences. <u>https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/225520</u>
- Stanley, P. (2020). Unlikely Hikers? Activism, Instagram, and the Queer Mobilities of fat Hikers, Women Hiking Alone, and Hikers of Colour. *Journal of Mobilities*, 15(2), 241–256. https://doi.org/10.1080/17450101.2019.1696038
- Svoboda, J., & Jirásek, I. (2021). Snowshoeing and winter camping as an experiential programme for physical education. *Curriculum Studies* in Health and Physical Education, 13(2), 170-190. https://doi.org/10.1080/25742981.2021.1997336
- Tinkler, & Hicks, (2011). *Measuring subjective well-being.* Office for National Statistics.
- Tong, Y., Wu, M. Y., Pearce, P. L., Zhai, J., & Shen, H. (2020). Children and structured holiday camping: Processes and perceived outcomes. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 35, 100706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2020.100706</u>
- Triantafillidou, A., & Siomkos, G. (2013). Summer camping: An extraordinary, nostalgic, and interpersonal experience. *Journal of Vacation Marketing, 19*(3), 197-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1356766712463719</u>
- Trudel-Fitzgerald, C., Millstein, R. A., von Hippel, C., Howe, C. J., Tomasso, L. P., Wagner, G. R., & VanderWeele, T. J. (2019). Psychological well-being as part of the public health debate? Insight

into dimensions, interventions, and policy. *BMC Public Health, 19*(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8029-</u>x

- Twohig-Bennett, C., & Jones, A. (2018). The health benefits of the great outdoors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of greenspace exposure and health outcomes. *Environmental research*, *166*, 628-637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.06.030</u>
- United Nations World Tourism Organisation (UNWTO) (2019). Tourism Highlights 2019.
- https://www.e-unwto.org/doi/pdf/10.18111/9789284421152 Vada, S., Prentice, C., Scott, N., & Hsiao, A. (2020). Positive psychology and tourist well-being: A systematic literature review. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *33*, 100631.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2019.100631
- Vallejo, M., Vallejo-Slocker, L., Laura, Fernández-Abascal, E., G., Guillermo, M. (2018). Determining Factors for Stress Perception Assessed with the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-4) in Spanish & Other European Samples. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(37), 1-8. <u>https://DOI:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00037</u>
- Van Heerden, C. H. (2020). Motivation and Involvement in Camping–A Gender Perspective. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure, 9*(1), 1-14.
- Van Rooij, N. & Margaryan, L. (2019). Integration of "Ideal Migrants": Dutch Lifestyle Expat-reneurs in Swedish Campgrounds. *Rural Society*, 28(3), 183-197. <u>https://DOI.10.1080/10371656.2020.1718329</u>
- Veal, A. J. (2018). *Research methods for leisure and tourism* (5th ed). Pearson.
- Veen, E. J., Pijpker, R., & Hassink, J. (2021). Understanding educational care farms as outdoor learning interventions for children who have dropped out of school in the Netherlands. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2021.2011340
- Wachyuni, S. S., & Kusumaningrum, D. A. (2020). The effect of Covid-19 pandemic: How are the future tourist behavior? *Journal of Education, Society and Behavioural Science, 33*(4), 67-76 https://doi.org/10.9734/JESBS/2020/v33i430219
- Waterman, A. S. (1993). Two conceptions of Happiness: Contrasts of personal expressiveness (eudaimonia) and hedonic enjoyment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64(4), 678-691. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.64.4.678</u>
- Wellner, K. (2015). Introduction to the Research Field: Camping & Caravanning. In User Innovators in the Silver Market (pp. 61-68). Springer Gabler, Wiesbaden. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-09044-9_5</u>
- Wen, J., Huang, S. S., & Ying, T. (2019). Relationships between Chinese cultural values and tourist motivations: A study of Chinese tourists visiting Israel. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management, 14*, 100367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2019.100367
- White, M. P., Alcock, I., Grellier, J., Wheeler, B. W., Hartig, T., Warber, S. L., Bone, A., Depledge, M. H., & Fleming, L. E. (2019). Spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature is associated with good health and wellbeing. *Scientific Reports.* 9, 7730. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44097-3
- White, N. R., & White, P. B. (2004). Travel as transition: Identity and place. Annals of Tourism Research, 31(1), 200-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2003.10.005
- Wilson, C., & Sibthorp, J. (2018). Examining the Role of Summer Camps in Developing Academic and Workplace Readiness. *Journal of Youth Development*, *13*(1-2), 83-104. https://doi.org/10.5195/jvd.2018.563
- Woods, K., Mayes, S., Bartley, E., Fedele, D., & Ryan, J. (2013). An evaluation of psychosocial outcomes for children and adolescents attending a summer camp for youth with chronic illness. *Children's Health Care, 42*(1), 85-98.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/02739615.2013.753822
- World Health Organisation (WHO) (2021). Noncommunicable diseases. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ noncommunicable-diseases
- World Health Organisation (WHO) (2022). *Health and well-being*. https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/major-themes/health-and-wellbeing
- Young, T. (2017). *Heading Out: A History of American Camping.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

8.1 Chi-square tests for independence

Table 14 presents the Chi-square results. While the p value (ie the result is unlikely to have occurred by chance) shows there is a significant difference between campers and non campers for the variables explained in section 4.1, the Chi-square test for independence (using Cramer's V value) indicates this difference is small (<.30 small effect (Pallant, 2016)). The similarity between the camper and non-camper groups is likely attributed to the non campers' preference to spend time outdoors.

Table 14: Chi-square tests for independence

	Pearson Chi-Square Value	df	р	Cramer's V
In the last 12 months, on average, how often have you spent free time outside in green and natural spaces?	45.87	9	***	.24
Since Covid-19 restrictions began, have you changed the amount of time you spend outside in green and natural spaces?	16.56	4	**	.15
Since Covid-19 restrictions began, has the amount of time you spend camping changed?	108.31	5	***	.37
Since Covid-19 restrictions began, how have you felt about the value of going outdoors and being in nature for your health and well-being?	32.43	5	***	.20
If your GP or another healthcare professional was to 'prescribe' spending time in nature (eg giving you access to an outdoor walking group, going camping, gardening, etc.) instead of medication for a mental health issue or condition, how would you feel about this?	15.60	5	**	.14

*** p = <0.001; ** p = <0.01; * p = <0.05

8.2 Nature Connection Index scores

Independent samples t-tests were conducted to compare the Nature Connection Index (NCI) scores of campers and non campers (Table 15). Campers scored significantly higher on all individual items and the NCI overall.

Scale	Item	Campers	(N=394)	Non camp	oers (N=394)	t (df)	р
		Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D		
Nature Connection	I always find beauty in nature	5.84	1.83	5.27	2.24	-3.881 (756.57)	<.001
Index	I always treat nature with respect	6.16	1.85	5.70	2.22	-3.144 (761.01)	.001
	Being in nature makes me very happy	5.98	1.73	5.71	1.94	-2.077 (775.22)	.019
	Spending time in nature is very important to me	5.94	1.70	5.53	1.95	-3.158 (771.30)	.001
	I find being in nature really amazing	5.78	1.59	5.49	1.93	-2.377 (756.79)	.009
	I feel part of nature	5.37	1.51	5.08	1.86	-2.437	.008
						(754.49)	
Nature Connection Index		68.09	27.68	62.89	30.28	-2.492 (770)	.006

Table 15: Nature Connection Index items and total index for campers vs non campers

8.3: Comparison of campers vs non campers on all well-being measures, and perceived stress scale

Table 16 below indicates the means and standard deviations, and t-test results, for campers and non campers on all the wellbeing measures, including perceived stress. Independent samples t-tests were conducted to compare scores on all the wellbeing measures between campers and non campers. Campers scored significantly higher on all measures than non campers.

Scale	Subscale item	Campers	(N=394)	Non cam	oers (N=394)	t (df)	р
		Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D		
ONS4	Life satisfaction	7.41	2.05	6.62	2.60	-4.729 (745.77)	<.001
	Worthwhile	7.60	1.99	6.78	2.60	-4.951 (734.79)	<.001
	Нарру	5.98	1.73	5.71	1.94	-2.077 (775.22)	<.001
	Anxious	5.94	1.70	5.53	1.95	-3.158 (771.30)	<.001
Perceived stress	scale	16.07	4.68	18.25	5.13	6.223 (786)	<.001
MHC-SF	Emotional	11.57	2.87	9.96	3.70	-6.818 (740.69)	<.001
	Social	11.51	5.17	10.71	5.55	-2.093 (786)	.018
	Psychological	21.08	5.87	18.58	6.98	-5.433 (763.65)	<.001
	Total	44.16	12.00	39.25	14.37	-5.199 (761.76)	<.001
Ryff Psychological	Autonomy	37.06	6.96	34.60	7.10	-4.926 (786)	<.001
Well-Being	Environmental mastery	38.38	7.86	33.53	9.25	-7.929 (766.03)	<.001
	Personal growth	37.48	6.97	34.15	7.31	-6.550 (786)	<.001
	Relations with others	39.95	6.65	36.44	7.95	-6.734 (762.42)	<.001
	Purpose in life	36.79	7.32	32.89	7.92	-7.170 (786)	<.001
	Self-acceptance	35.90	8.02	32.10	8.96	-6.275 (786)	<.001

Table 16: Scores on well-being and mental health scales for campers vs non campers

When applying the ONS thresholds (ONS, 2018) (see below) for the ONS4, the campers fall into the high threshold for the first three statements and the low threshold for anxiety. By comparison, the non campers' mean for the first three statements is considered medium on the ONS threshold. Non-campers also have low anxiety.

ONS Thresholds:

Thresholds are used to present the distribution of the data. For the life satisfaction, feeling that things done in life are worthwhile and happiness questions, ratings are grouped in the following way:

- 0 to 4 (low)
- 5 to 6 (medium)
- 7 to 8 (high)
- 9 to 10 (very high)

For the anxiety question, ratings are grouped differently to reflect the fact that higher anxiety is associated with lower personal well-being. The ratings for anxiety are grouped as follows:

- 0 to 1 (very low)
- 2 to 3 (low)
- 4 to 5 (medium)
- 6 to 10 (high)

8.4: Scores and correlations for all campers on all well-being measures, and comparison of frequent vs non-frequent campers

Table 17 below indicates the means and standard deviations, and t-test results, for all campers and comparing frequent with less frequent campers on the NCI, and all the well-being measures, including perceived stress. Independent samples t-tests were conducted to compare scores on all the well-being measures between frequent and less frequent campers. More frequent campers scored significantly higher on all well-being measures, but not on the NCI.

Scale	Subscale item	Camp (N=10		•	t campers 5894)	Less-fre campers (t (df)	р
		Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D	Mean	S.D		
Nature Connec	ction Index (NCI)	70.09	27.69	70.22	27.98	69.95	27.34	496 (10365)	.310
ONS4	Life satisfaction	7.35	2.05	7.52	1.99	7.14	2.11	-9.318 (9777.54)	<.001
	Worthwhile	7.44	2.12	7.61	2.05	7.24	2.18	-9.044 (9764.78)	<.001
	Нарру	7.27	2.32	7.43	2.27	7.07	2.36	-8.077 (9877.63)	<.001
	Anxious	3.08	3.01	2.95	3.02	3.24	2.98	4.887 (10580)	<.001
Perceived stres	is scale	16.35	4.82	15.98	4.76	16.80	4.85	8.698 (10580)	<.001
MHC-SF	Emotional	11.34	2.97	11.60	2.86	11.03	3.07	-9.827 (9713.82)	<.001
	Social	11.23	5.52	11.45	5.52	10.95	5.51	-4.579 (10580)	.018
	Psychological	20.79	6.30	21.29	6.17	20.17	6.40	-9.081 (9880.88)	<.001
	Total	43.35	13.07	44.34	12.79	42.15	13.28	-8.549 (9879.25)	<.001
Ryff Psychological	Autonomy	36.58	7.06	37.12	6.94	35.92	7.15	-8.722 (9915.50)	<.001
Well-being	Environmental mastery	37.90	8.21	38.81	7.87	36.79	8.46	-12.569 (9703.24)	<.001
	Personal growth	37.25	6.91	37.79	6.86	36.58	6.90	-8.990 (10580)	<.001
	Relations with others	39.14	7.33	39.59	7.16	38.58	7.49	-7.004 (9842.95)	<.001
	Purpose in life	36.71	7.49	37.44	7.33	35.81	7.58	-11.127 (9895.67)	<.001
	Self-acceptance	35.40	8.44	36.28	8.21	34.31	8.58	-11.919 (9849.42)	<.001

Bivariate correlations between the NCI, perceived stress scale, and all well-being measures are shown in Table 18. While the majority of correlations were significant, this was largely down to the large sample size. The NCI in particular was only weakly correlated with all other measures, and not significantly so with the perceived stress and ONS4 anxiety measure.

E

Table 18: Correlations between all measures (all campers)

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1 Nature connectedness														
2 Perceived stress scale	012													
3 ONS1 – life satisfaction	.062**	489**												
4 ONS2 – worthwhile	.092**	436**	.787**											
5 ONS3 – happy	.078**	492**	.775**	.752**										
6 ONS4 – anxious	025	.491**	273**	231**	345**									
7 MHC EWB	.092**	628**	.630**	.597**	.627**	377**								
8 MHC SWB	.100 **	389**	.412**	.442**	.420**	204**	.570**							
9 MHC PWB	.103**	525**	.510**	.544**	.513**	297**	.729**	.657**						
10 Autonomy	.054**	371**	.237**	.250**	.243**	255**	.328**	.180**	.422**					
11 Environmental mastery	.062**	688**	.556**	.532**	.546**	428**	.705**	.491**	.688**	.507**				
12 Personal growth	.150**	370**	.337**	.381**	.333**	235**	.470**	.418**	.575**	.419**	.592**			
13 Relations with others	.132**	409**	.404**	.424**	.405**	254**	.536**	.469**	.619**	.344**	.648**	.565**		
14 Purpose in life	.119**	444**	.441**	.500**	.437**	277**	.579**	.470**	.630**	.402**	.680**	.666**	.608**	
15 Acceptance	.072**	554**	.506**	.520*8	.497**	341**	.648**	.497**	.706**	.525**	.788**	.621**	.654**	.708**

Note: * = p<.01; ** = p<.001

ONS = Office for National Statistics; Mental Health Continuum; EWB = emotional wellbeing; SWB = social wellbeing; PWB = psychological wellbeing

Table 19 below shows the mean and standard deviations for the NCI, ONS4, and PSS by camping type. As respondents could choose multiple of these options, it was not possible to test the significance of the differences between these camping types. However, the means do indicate some differences as outlined in the main report.

Table 19: NCI and ONS scores by camping type

NCI ONS1 ONS2 ONS3 ONS4 PSS Camping type Ν Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean (S.D.) (S.D.) (S.D.) (S.D.) (S.D.) (S.D.) 71.32 7.07 7.25 7.03 3.60 17.33 Tent (festival) 458 (27.66)(2.08)(2.24)(2.35)(3.03) (4.82) 1972 71.46 7.09 7.22 6.93 3.45 17.10 Tent (campsite) (27.74) (2.03) (2.36)(2.17) (3.02)(4.97) Tent (wild camping or bivvying) 634 73.04 7.26 7.36 7.31 3.30 16.43 (27.44) (2.02) (2.19)(2.28)(3.17) (4.90)290 70.57 7.11 7.20 7.00 4.16 18.16 Glamping (2.31)(2.45)(28.44)(2.17)(3.21)(4.95) 7.38 7.44 7.25 3.20 Campervan 2455 72.25 16.51 (27.18) (1.96)(2.08)(2.26)(3.00)(4.81) 4102 68.81 7.36 7.48 7.29 3.09 16.40 Caravan (touring) (28.08)(2.09)(2.15)(2.34)(3.05)(4.82) Caravan (static) 494 70.61 7.21 7.39 7.16 3.66 17.58 (27.46) (2.02) (2.39)(4.94) (2.12)(3.17) Motorhome 3424 70.01 7.42 7.47 7.36 2.90 16.03 (27.04) (2.06)(2.13) (2.32)(2.97)(4.75) 70.44 7.21 7.38 731 Trailer-tent/ 312 3.18 16.64 (27.48) (2.07)(2.13)(2.31)(3.09) (4.83) folding-camper

8.5: Mental Health Continuum category by group

Table 20 shows the number and percentage who were classified as flourishing, moderately mentally healthy, and languishing within the campers vs non campers, all campers, and by camping frequency.

Group	Flourishing		Moderately mentally healthy		Languishing		Chi square	df	р
	N	%	N	%	N	%			
Campers	173	43.9	202	51.3	19	4.8	21.841	2	<.001
Non campers	120	30.5	229	58.1	45	11.4			
All campers	4419	41.7	5549	52.4	630	5.9			
Frequent campers	2630	44.6	2962	50.3	302	5.1	52.488	2	<.001
Less frequent campers	1784	38.1	2580	55.0	324	6.9			

Table 20: Mental Health Continuum category by group

8.6: The impact of campers' age on their personal well-being

A one-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to explore the impact of age on levels of the campers' feelings on aspects of their everyday life, as measured by the ONS personal well-being scale (Table 21). Due to small numbers among the younger age groups, campers aged 18-44 were combined into one group for this analysis.

Eta squared was used to calculate the strength of association between the well-being measures and age (0.01 is a small effect (Pallant, 2016)). The strongest effects were for environmental mastery, perceived stress, and autonomy, with ONS4 anxiety close behind. For the majority of measures, the 18-44 group scored worse (either lowest, or highest for the perceived stress and anxiety measures) and each subsequent group scored better. The exceptions to this pattern were the ONS life satisfaction and happy items, on which the 45-54 group scored lowest.

	Age Group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	F	df	р	Eta Squared
ONS1: Life satisfaction	18-44	654	6.94	2.007	42.75	3	<.001	.012
	45-54	1242	6.90	2.126				
	55-64	3389	7.31	2.000				
	65 and over	5184	7.53	2.052				
ONS2: Worthwhile	18-44	654	7.04	2.146	33.38	3	<.001	.009
	45-54	1242	7.09	2.173				
	55-64	3389	7.38	2.087				
	65 and over	5184	7.62	2.107				
ONS3: Happy	18-44	654	6.77	2.305	64.17	3	<.001	.018
	45-54	1242	6.69	2.352				
	55-64	3389	7.16	2.318				
	65 and over	5184	7.54	2.267				
ONS4: Anxious	18-44	654	4.30	3.004	102.95	3	<.001	.029
	45-54	1242	3.93	2.956				
	55-64	3389	3.13	2.950				
	65 and over	5184	2.68	2.960				

Table 21: One-way ANOVA to examine the impact of campers' age on all well-being measures

(Continued on page 50)

Table 21: One-way ANOVA to examine the impact of campers' age on all well-being measures (continued)

	Age Group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	F	df	р	Eta Squared
Perceived Stress Scale	18-44	654	19.31	4.59	191.45	3	<.001	.052
	45-54	1242	17.99	4.81				
	55-64	3389	16.43	4.84				
	65 and over	5184	15.52	4.59				
MHC-SF Emotional well-being	18-44	654	10.35	3.29	91.75	3	<.001	.026
	45-54	1242	10.52	3.35				
	55-64	3389	11.21	3.05				
	65 and over	5184	11.74	2.70				
MHC-SF Social well-being	18-44	654	11.11	5.91	15.86	3	<.001	.005
	45-54	1242	10.60	5.76				
	55-64	3389	10.93	5.41				
	65 and over	5184	11.58	5.46				
MHC-SF Psychological	18-44	654	19.51	6.47	37.50	3	<.001	.011
well-being	45-54	1242	19.62	6.83				
	55-64	3389	20.63	6.45				
	65 and over	5184	21.34	5.98				
Ryff PWB: Autonomy	18-44	654	32.86	7.07	131.22	3	<.001	.036
Ī	45-54	1242	34.90	7.42				
	55-64	3389	36.27	7.23				
	65 and over	5184	37.66	6.59				
Ryff PWB: Environmental	18-44	654	32.10	7.97	273.33	3	<.001	.073
mastery	45-54	1242	34.59	8.74				
	55-64	3389	37.60	8.34				
	65 and over	5184	39.62	7.39				
Ryff PWB: Personal growth	18-44	654	35.78	7.20	13.64	3	<.001	.004
	45-54	1242	37.13	6.94				
	55-64	3389	37.64	6.85				
	65 and over	5184	37.21	6.89				
Ryff PWB: Relations with	18-44	654	36.28	7.60	47.06	3	<.001	.013
others	45-54	1242	38.36	7.85				
	55-64	3389	39.22	7.42				
	65 and over	5184	39.65	7.00				
Ryff PWB: Purpose in life	18-44	654	34.48	7.63	28.15	3	<.001	.008
	45-54	1242	35.98	7.65				
	55-64	3389	36.84	7.60				
	65 and over	5184	37.09	7.31				
Ryff PWB: Acceptance	18-44	654	31.70	8.43	99.37	3	<.001	.028
	45-54	1242	33.45	9.12				
	55-64	3389	35.08	8.76				
ĺ	65 and over	5184	36.54	7.81				

Table 22 shows the percentage of each age group categorised as flourishing, moderately mentally healthy, and languishing, along with the Chi-squared test results comparing the four age groups.

Group	Flourishing		Moderately mentally healthy		Languishing		Chi square	df	q
	N	%	N	%	Ν	%			
18-44	220	33.6	383	58.6	51	7.8	142.30	6	<.001
45-54	428	34.5	691	55.6	123	9.9			
55-64	1333	39.3	1816	53.6	240	7.1			
65 and over	2382	45.9	2593	50.0	209	4.0			

8.7: The impact of camping frequency on campers' personal well-being

An ANOVA was conducted to explore the impact of camping frequency on the levels of the campers' feelings on aspects of their everyday life, as measured by the ONS personal well-being scale. Participants were divided into five camping frequency groups (Table 23). There was a statistically significant difference (p = <0.05) across all ONS scores for the five camping frequency groups. Despite reaching statistical significance, the mean scores between the groups were small. However, the mean scores show that as the frequency of camping per year increases, the scores for the ONS statements related to satisfaction with life, life is worthwhile, and happiness also increase. Likewise, with an increase in camping frequency in a year, there is a statistically significant decrease in levels of anxiety. Therefore, the more a person camps in a year, the better it is for their personal well-being.

Eta squared was used to calculate the strength of association between the four ONS statements and the frequency of camping. The resulting eta squared value shows a small association between frequency of camping and each of the ONS personal wellbeing statements.

	Frequency of camping each year	Mean	Std. Deviation	F	р	Eta Squared
Overall, how satisfied are you	Once a year	6.60	2.54	28.68	<.001	0.011
with your life nowadays?	2-3 times a year	7.03	2.10			
	4-5 times a year	7.25	2.06			
	6-10 times a year	7.52	1.90			
	Over 10 times a year	7.51	2.08			
Overall, to what extent do you	Once a year	6.78	2.54	25.53	<.001	0.009
feel that the things you do in	2-3 times a year	7.13	2.22			1
your life are worthwhile?	4-5 times a year	7.33	2.12			1
	6-10 times a year	7.61	1.97			1
	Over 10 times a year	7.62	2.15			
Overall, how happy did you feel	Once a year	6.38	2.71	22.88	<.001	0.008
yesterday?	2-3 times a year	6.97	2.39			1
	6-10 times a year Over 10 times a year Over 10 times a year 2-3 times a year 4-5 times a year 6-10 times a year Over 10 times a year el Once a year 2-3 times a year 4-5 times a year 4-5 times a year 0ver 10 times a year	7.16	2.306			1
	6-10 times a year	7.43	2.19			
	Over 10 times a year	7.44	2.36			
On a scale where 0 is "not at all	Once a year	3.37	2.75	7.98	<.001	0.003
anxious" and 10 is "completely	-	3.39	3.02			1
anxious", overall, how anxious did you feel yesterday?	4-5 times a year	3.14	2.97			
ulu you leel yesteruay?	6-10 times a year	2.93	2.97			
	Over 10 times a year	2.98	3.08			

Table 23: ANOVA to examine the impact of camping frequency on their personal well-being



www.theoutjoymentreport.co.uk

CAMP, FOR PURE • Outje yment